

Johnson-Levine homomorphisms and the tree reduction of the LMO functor

Anderson Vera

► To cite this version:

Anderson Vera. Johnson-Levine homomorphisms and the tree reduction of the LMO functor. Mathematical Proceedings of the Cambridge Philosophical Society, 2020, 170 (2), pp.291-325. 10.1017/S0305004119000410. hal-01653580

HAL Id: hal-01653580 https://hal.science/hal-01653580

Submitted on 1 Dec 2017

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

JOHNSON-LEVINE HOMOMORPHISMS AND THE TREE REDUCTION OF THE LMO FUNCTOR

ANDERSON VERA

ABSTRACT. Let \mathcal{M} denote the mapping class group of Σ , a compact connected oriented surface with one boundary component. The action of \mathcal{M} on the nilpotent quotients of $\pi_1(\Sigma)$ allows to define the so-called Johnson filtration and the Johnson homomorphisms. J. Levine introduced a new filtration of \mathcal{M} , called the Lagrangian filtration. He also introduced a version of the Johnson homomorphisms for this new filtration. The first term of the Lagrangian filtration is the Lagrangian mapping class group, whose definition involves a handlebody bounded by Σ , and which contains the Torelli group. These constructions extend in a natural way to the monoid of homology cobordisms. Besides, D. Cheptea, K. Habiro and G. Massuyeau constructed a functorial extension of the LMO invariant, called the LMO functor, which takes values in a category of diagrams. In this paper we give a topological interpretation of the upper part of the tree reduction of the LMO functor in terms of the homomorphisms defined by J. Levine for the Lagrangian mapping class group. We also compare the Johnson filtration with the filtration introduced by J. Levine.

CONTENTS

1. Introduction	2
2. Johnson homomorphisms	3
2.1. Mapping class group	3
2.2. Homology cobordisms and bottom-top tangles	4
2.3. Johnson homomorphisms for homology cobordisms	6
2.4. Milnor invariants and the Milnor-Johnson correspondence	7
2.5. Diagrammatic version of the Johnson homomorphisms	9
3. Lagrangian version of the Johnson homomorphisms	10
3.1. Preliminaries	10
3.2. The Lagrangian mapping class group	11
3.3. The monoid of Lagrangian homology cobordisms	13
4. Properties of the Johnson-Levine homomorphisms	15
4.1. Surjectivity of the Johnson-Levine homomorphisms	15
4.2. Invariance under the Y_k -equivalence relation	16
4.3. Comparison of the Johnson and Johnson-Levine filtrations	18
4.4. Proof of Proposition 4.7	20
5. The LMO functor and the Johnson-Levine homomorphisms	23
5.1. Jacobi diagrams	23
5.2. The LMO functor	24
5.3. Diagrammatic version of the Johnson-Levine homomorphisms	26
5.4. Relating the LMO functor and the Johnson-Levine homomorphisms	26
References	28

Date: December 1, 2017.

²⁰¹⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. 57M27, 57M05, 57S05.

Key words and phrases. 3-manifold, cobordism, mapping class group, Johnson homomorphisms, Lagrangian mapping class group, Johnson-Levine homomorphisms, LMO invariant, LMO functor.

1. INTRODUCTION

Let Σ be a compact connected oriented surface with one boundary component and let \mathcal{M} denote the mapping class group of Σ . The interaction between the study of 3-manifolds and that of the mapping class group is well known. In some sense, the algebraic structure of \mathcal{M} and of its subgroups is reflected in the topology of 3-manifolds. For instance, the subgroup of homeomorphisms acting trivially in homology, known as the *Torelli group* and denoted by \mathcal{I} , is tied to homology 3-spheres. In this direction, D. Johnson [18] and S. Morita [29] studied the mapping class group by using its action on the nilpotent quotients of the fundamental group of Σ . This action allows to define the Johnson filtration of \mathcal{M} ; the k-th term $J_k \mathcal{M}$ of this filtration consists of the elements in \mathcal{M} acting trivially on the k-th nilpotent quotient of $\pi_1(\Sigma)$. On the Johnson filtration it is possible to define the Johnson homomorphisms which play an important role in the structure of the Torelli group. For instance, the first Johnson homomorphism appears in the computation of the abelianization of \mathcal{I} [19]. S. Morita also discovered the strong relation between the structure of the Torelli group and some properties of the Casson invariant of homology 3-spheres [27, 28, 30]. The Johnson homomorphisms take values in a Lie subalgebra of the derivation Lie algebra of a free Lie algebra constructed from the first homology group of Σ ; this Lie subalgebra admits a diagrammatic description in terms of tree-like Jacobi diagrams.

The Johnson filtration and the Johnson homomorphisms generalize in a natural way to the monoid of homology cobordisms \mathcal{C} of Σ , that is, homeomorphism classes of pairs (M, m), where M is a compact oriented 3-manifold and $m : \partial(\Sigma \times [-1,1]) \to \partial M$ is an orientation-preserving homeomorphism such that the *top* and *bottom* restrictions of m induce isomorphisms in homology [7]. In particular, the mapping class group of Σ embeds into the monoid of homology cobordisms by associating to each $h \in \mathcal{M}$ the cobordism $(\Sigma \times [-1,1], m^h)$ where m^h is the orientation-preserving homeomorphism defined on the top surface $\Sigma \times \{1\}$ by h and the identity elsewhere. Under this embedding, the Torelli group is mapped into the monoid of homology cobordisms (M, m) such that the top and bottom restrictions of m induce the *same* isomorphisms in homology. This class of cobordisms is denoted by \mathcal{IC} and they are called *homology cylinders*.

On the other hand, T. Le, J. Murakami and T. Ohtsuki defined in [20] a universal finite type invariant for homology 3-spheres called the *LMO invariant*. This invariant was extended by D. Cheptea, K. Habiro and G. Massuyeau in [4] to a functor $\tilde{Z} : \mathcal{LC}ob_q \to {}^{ts}\mathcal{A}$, called the *LMO functor*, from a category of cobordisms (with a homological condition) between bordered surfaces to a category of Jacobi diagrams. In particular, the monoid of homology cylinders \mathcal{IC} is a subset of morphisms in $\mathcal{LC}ob_q$. The construction of the LMO functor is sophisticated: it uses the *Kontsevich integral*, which requires the choice of a *Drinfeld associator*, and it also uses several combinatorial operations in the space of Jacobi diagrams. In consequence, it is not clear which topological information is encoded by the LMO functor.

In [14], N. Habegger and G. Masbaum gave a topological interpretation of the tree reduction of the Kontsevich integral in terms of Milnor invariants. Following the same spirit, D. Cheptea, K. Habiro and G. Massuyeau gave in [4] a topological interpretation of the leading term of the tree reduction of the LMO functor in terms of the first non-vanishing Johnson homomorphism. This was improved by G. Massuyeau in [25], where he gave an interpretation of the full tree reduction of the LMO functor on \mathcal{IC} .

In [21, 24], J. Levine introduced a different filtration of the mapping class group as follows. Let V be a handlebody of genus g and fix a disk D on the boundary of V so that $\partial V = \Sigma \cup D$, where D and Σ are glued along their boundaries. Denote by ι the inclusion of Σ into $\partial V \subseteq V$. Let us denote by A and A the subgroups ker $(H_1(\Sigma) \xrightarrow{\iota_*} H_1(V))$ and ker $(\pi_1(\Sigma) \xrightarrow{\iota_\#} \pi_1(V))$, respectively. The Lagrangian mapping class group of Σ , denoted by \mathcal{L} , consists of the elements in \mathcal{M} preserving the subgroup A. The strongly Lagrangian mapping class group of Σ , denoted by \mathcal{IL} , consists of the elements in \mathcal{L} which are the identity on A. The k-th term $J_k^{\mathcal{L}}\mathcal{M}$ of the Lagrangian filtration of \mathcal{M} , which we shall call here the Johnson-Levine filtration, consists of the elements h in \mathcal{IL} such that $\iota_{\#}h_{\#}(\mathbb{A})$ is contained in the (k+1)-st term of the lower central series of $\pi_1(V)$.

J. Levine also defined a version of the Johnson homomorphisms for this filtration, that we shall call here the Johnson-Levine homomorphisms, which take values in an abelian group that can be described in terms of $H_1(V)$. This abelian group also admits a diagrammatic description in terms of tree-like Jacobi diagrams. One of J. Levine's main motivations was to understand the relation between the Johnson-Levine homomorphisms and finite type invariants of homology spheres. The first Johnson-Levine homomorphism comes up in the computation of the abelianization of \mathcal{IL} , found by T. Sakasai in [34]. It also appears in the work of N. Broaddus, B. Farb and A. Putman [3] to compute the distortion of \mathcal{IL} as a subgroup of \mathcal{M} .

The Johnson-Levine filtration and the Johnson-Levine homomorphisms generalize in a natural way to the monoid of homology cobordisms. Thus, it is natural to wonder about the relation of these homomorphisms with the LMO functor. The aim of this paper is to make explicit this relation. The main result is a topological interpretation of the leading term in the *upper part* of the tree reduction of the LMO functor in terms of the first non-vanishing Johnson-Levine homomorphism. This sheds some new light on the topological information encoded by the LMO functor. One key point in the proof of this result is to compare the Johnson filtration and the Johnson-Levine filtration. This comparison was already carried out by J. Levine in degrees 1 and 2 for the mapping class group in [24]. In this direction, a second main result of this paper is a comparison of the two filtrations in all degrees for homology cobordisms up to some surgery equivalence relations. These equivalence relations were introduced independently by M. Goussarov in [8, 9] and by K. Habiro in [15] in connection with the theory of finite type invariants.

The organization of the paper is as follows. In Section 2 we review the definitions of the Johnson filtration and Johnson homomorphisms in the mapping class group case, as well as in the case of homology cobordisms. We also explain the bottom-top tangle presentation of homology cobordisms, which is a way to present homology cobordisms by using a kind of knotted objects. Finally, in this section, we review the Milnor-Johnson correspondence which relates the Milnor invariants with the Johnson homomorphisms. Section 3 deals with the Johnson-Levine filtration and Johnson-Levine homomorphisms in the mapping class group case, as well as in the case of homology cobordisms. Section 4 provides a detailed exposition of important properties of the Johnson-Levine homomorphisms, and a comparison of the Johnson filtration with the Johnson-Levine filtration. Finally, Section 5 is devoted to the topological interpretation of the upper part of the tree reduction of the LMO functor.

Notation. For a group G, the *lower central series* is the descending chain of subgroups $\{\Gamma_k G\}_{k\geq 1}$ defined by $\Gamma_1 G := G$ and $\Gamma_{k+1} G := [G, \Gamma_k G]$. If $x \in G$ we denote the *nilpotent* class of x in $G/\Gamma_k G$ interchangeably by $\{x\}_k$ or $x\Gamma_k G$. If $f : (X, x) \to (Y, y)$ is a continuous map between two pointed topological spaces (X, x) and (Y, y), we denote by $f_{\#} : \pi_1(X, x) \to \pi_1(Y, y)$ and $f_* : H_1(X; \mathbb{Z}) \to H_1(Y; \mathbb{Z})$ the induced maps in homotopy and homology, respectively. Finally, when we draw framed knotted objects we use the blackboard framing convention.

Acknowledgements. I am deeply grateful to my advisor Gwénaël Massuyeau for his encouragement, helpful advice and careful reading.

2. Johnson homomorphisms

For every non-negative integer g denote by Σ (or by $\Sigma_{g,1}$ if there is ambiguity) a compact connected oriented surface of genus g with one boundary component. Let us fix a base point $* \in \partial \Sigma$ and set $\pi := \pi_1(\Sigma, *)$ and $H := H_1(\Sigma; \mathbb{Z})$.

2.1. Mapping class group. Denote by \mathcal{M} (or by $\mathcal{M}_{g,1}$ if there is ambiguity) the mapping class group of Σ , that is, the group of isotopy classes of orientation-preserving diffeomorphisms of Σ fixing $\partial \Sigma$ point-wise. The isotopy class of h in \mathcal{M} is still denoted by h. The Dehn-Nielsen-Baer

4

representation is the injective group homomorphism

$$\rho: \mathcal{M} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Aut}(\pi)$$

that maps the isotopy class $h \in \mathcal{M}$ to the induced map in homotopy $h_{\#} \in \operatorname{Aut}(\pi)$.

Consider the lower central series $\{\Gamma_k \pi\}_{k\geq 1}$ of π . The *nilpotent version* of the Dehn-Nielsen-Baer representation, $\rho_k : \mathcal{M} \to \operatorname{Aut}(\pi/\Gamma_{k+1}\pi)$, is defined as the composition

(2.1)
$$\mathcal{M} \xrightarrow{\rho} \operatorname{Aut}(\pi) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Aut}(\pi/\Gamma_{k+1}\pi).$$

The Johnson filtration is the descending chain of subgroups $\{J_k\mathcal{M}\}_{k\geq 1}$ of \mathcal{M} where $J_k\mathcal{M}$ is the kernel of ρ_k . In particular, $J_1\mathcal{M}$ is the set of elements in \mathcal{M} acting trivially in homology. This subgroup is denoted by \mathcal{I} (or $\mathcal{I}_{g,1}$) and it is called the *Torelli group*.

Associated to the Johnson filtration, there is a family of group homomorphisms called the *Johnson homomorphisms*. These homomorphisms are of great importance in the study of the structure of the mapping class group and its subgroups. They were introduced by D. Johnson in [17, 18] and extensively studied by S. Morita in [28, 29]. We refer to [35] for a survey on this subject.

For every positive integer k, the k-th Johnson homomorphism

(2.2)
$$\tau_k: J_k\mathcal{M} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(H, \Gamma_{k+1}\pi/\Gamma_{k+2}\pi) \cong H^* \otimes \Gamma_{k+1}\pi/\Gamma_{k+2}\pi \cong H \otimes \mathfrak{L}_{k+1}(H),$$

is defined by sending the isotopy class $h \in J_k \mathcal{M}$ to the map

$$\{x\}_2 \longmapsto \rho_{k+1}(h)(\{x\})\{x\}_{k+1}^{-1} \in \frac{\Gamma_{k+1}\pi}{\Gamma_{k+2}\pi}$$

for all $x \in \pi$. The second isomorphism in (2.2) is given by the identification $H \xrightarrow{\sim} H^*$ that maps x to $\omega(x, \cdot)$ where $\omega : H \otimes H \to \mathbb{Z}$ is the *intersection form*, together with the identification of $\Gamma_{k+1}\pi/\Gamma_{k+2}\pi$ with the term of degree k + 1 in the *free Lie algebra*

$$\mathfrak{L}(H) = \bigoplus_{k \ge 1} \mathfrak{L}_k(H)$$

generated by the Z-module H. Moreover, S. Morita proved in [29, Corollary 3.2] that the kth Johnson homomorphism takes values in the kernel $D_k(H)$ of the Lie bracket $[,] : H \otimes \mathcal{L}_{k+1}(H) \to \mathcal{L}_{k+2}(H)$.

2.2. Homology cobordisms and bottom-top tangles. In this subsection we recall from [4] the definition of the monoid of homology cobordisms and their presentation by bottom-top tangles, that is, a presentation by a special kind of knotted objects. The bottom-top tangle presentation is also used in the definition of the LMO functor as we will see in Section 5.

The notion of homology cobordism was introduced independently by M. Goussarov in [9] and by K. Habiro in [15] in connection with the theory of finite type invariants. A homology cobordism of Σ is the equivalence class of a pair M = (M, m), where M is a compact connected oriented 3-manifold and $m : \partial(\Sigma \times [-1, 1]) \to \partial M$ is an orientation-preserving homeomorphism, such that the bottom and top inclusions $m_{\pm}(\cdot) := m(\cdot, \pm 1) : \Sigma \to M$ induce isomorphisms in homology. Two pairs (M, m) and (M', m') are equivalent if there exists an orientation-preserving homeomorphism $\varphi : M \to M'$ such that $\varphi \circ m = m'$.

The composition $(M, m) \circ (M', m')$ of two homology cobordisms (M, m) and (M', m') of Σ is the equivalence class of the pair $(\widetilde{M}, m_{-} \cup m'_{+})$, where \widetilde{M} is obtained by gluing the two 3-manifolds M and M' by using the map $m_{+} \circ (m'_{-})^{-1}$. This composition is associative and has as identity element the equivalence class of the trivial cobordism ($\Sigma \times [-1, 1]$, Id). Let us denote by \mathcal{C} (or by $\mathcal{C}_{q,1}$ if there is ambiguity) the monoid of homology cobordisms of Σ .

Example 2.1. The mapping class group \mathcal{M} can be embedded into \mathcal{C} by associating to any $h \in \mathcal{M}$ the equivalence class of the pair $(\Sigma \times [-1, 1], m^h)$, where $m^h : \partial(\Sigma \times [-1, 1]) \to \partial(\Sigma \times [-1, 1])$ is the orientation-preserving homeomorphism defined by $m^h(x, 1) = (h(x), 1)$ and $m^h(x, t) = (x, t)$ for $t \neq 1$. The submonoid obtained in this way is precisely the group of invertible elements of \mathcal{C} , see [16, Proposition 2.4].

Let us now turn to the definition of bottom-top tangles. Consider the square $[-1,1]^2$. For all $g \ge 1$, fix g pairs of different points $(p_1, q_1), \ldots, (p_g, q_g)$ in $[-1, 1]^2$ distributed uniformly along the horizontal axis $\{(x,0) \mid x \in [-1,1]\}$, see Figure 1(a). A bottom-top tangle of type (g,g) is an equivalence class of pairs (B,γ) , where B = (B,b) consists of a compact connected oriented 3-manifold B and an orientation-preserving homeomorphism $b : \partial([-1,1]^3) \to \partial B;$ and $\gamma = (\gamma^+, \gamma^-)$ is a framed oriented tangle with g top components $\gamma_1^+, \ldots, \gamma_g^+$ and g bottom components $\gamma_1^-, \ldots, \gamma_q^-$ such that

- each γ_j⁺ runs from p_j × 1 to q_j × 1,
 each γ_j⁻ runs from q_j × (−1) to p_j × (−1).

Two such pairs (B, γ) and (B', γ') are equivalent if there is an orientation-preserving homeomorphism $\varphi: B \to B'$ such that $\varphi \circ b = b'$ and $\varphi(\gamma) = \gamma'$. See Figure 1(b) for an example.



FIGURE 1. (b) bottom-top tangle of type (2, 2) in $[-1, 1]^3$.

Let (M, m) be a homology cobordism of $\Sigma_{g,1}$. We associate a bottom-top tangle of type (g, g)to (M,m) as follows. Let us fix a system of meridians and parallels $\{\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_q,\beta_1,\ldots,\beta_q\}$ of $\Sigma_{g,1}$ as in Figure 2.



FIGURE 2. System of meridians and parallels.

Then attach q 2-handles on the bottom surface of M by sending the cores of the 2-handles to the curves $m_{-}(\alpha_{i})$. In the same way, attach q 2-handles on the top surface of M by sending the cores to the curves $m_+(\beta_i)$. This way we obtain a compact connected oriented 3-manifold B and an orientation-preserving homeomorphism $b: \partial([-1,1]^3) \to \partial B$. The pair B = (B,b)together with the cocores of the 2-handles, determine a bottom-top tangle (B, γ) of type (g, g). We call (B, γ) the bottom-top tangle presentation of (M, m). See Figure 3 for an example.

We emphasize that the bottom-top tangle presentation of homology cobordisms depends on the choice of a system of meridians and parallels of Σ . From now on, when we say "the bottomtop tangle presentation" of a homology cobordism we mean the bottom-top tangle presentation associated to the choice of meridians and parallels of Σ as in Figure 2.

We are mainly interested in bottom-top tangles in homology cubes. A homology cube is a homology cobordism of $\Sigma_{0,1}$. In particular, if (B,b) is such a cobordism we have $H_*(B;\mathbb{Z})\cong$ $H_*([-1,1]^3;\mathbb{Z}).$



FIGURE 3. From homology cobordisms to bottom-top tangles.

Definition 2.2. Let (B, γ) be a bottom-top tangle of type (g, g) with B a homology cube. Let us label its connected components by $\{1^+, \ldots, g^+\} \cup \{1^-, \ldots, g^-\} =: \lfloor g \rceil^+ \cup \lfloor g \rceil^-$, where the label k^{\pm} is assigned to the component γ_k^{\pm} . The linking matrix of (B, γ) is the matrix, with rows and columns indexed by $|g|^+ \cup |g|^-$, defined by

(2.3)
$$\operatorname{Lk}_{B}(\gamma) := \operatorname{Lk}_{\hat{B}}(\hat{\gamma}),$$

where \hat{B} is the homology sphere $B \cup_b (\mathbb{S}^3 \setminus [-1,1]^3)$ and $\hat{\gamma}$ is the framed oriented link in \hat{B} whose component $\hat{\gamma}_j^{\pm}$ is obtained from γ_j^{\pm} by connecting $p_j \times (\pm 1)$ with $q_j \times (\pm 1)$ with a small arc, and $\operatorname{Lk}_{\hat{B}}(\hat{\gamma})$ denotes the usual linking matrix of $\hat{\gamma}$ in the homology sphere \hat{B} .

Let $(M,m) \in \mathcal{C}$ and let (B,γ) be its bottom-top tangle presentation. If B is a homology cube, we define the linking matrix Lk(M) of (M,m) as the linking matrix of its bottom-top tangle presentation.

2.3. Johnson homomorphisms for homology cobordisms. The Johnson filtration and the Johnson homomorphisms of \mathcal{M} extend in a natural way to the monoid of homology cobordisms, see [7]. Given M = (M, m) in \mathcal{C} , since m_+ and m_- induce isomorphisms in homology in all degrees, by Stallings' theorem [36, Theorem 3.4], the maps $m_{\pm,*}: \pi/\Gamma_k \pi \to \pi_1(M,*)/\Gamma_k \pi_1(M,*)$ are isomorphisms for all $k \geq 2$. Hence, the nilpotent version of the Dehn-Nielsen-Baer representation of the mapping class group can be extended to \mathcal{C} . For every positive integer k define

(2.4)
$$\rho_k : \mathcal{C} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Aut}(\pi/\Gamma_{k+1}\pi),$$

by sending $(M, m) \in \mathcal{C}$ to the automorphism $m_{-,*}^{-1} \circ m_{+,*}$.

The Johnson filtration $\{J_k \mathcal{C}\}_{k>1}$ of \mathcal{C} is the descending chain of submonoids

$$\mathcal{C} \supseteq J_1 \mathcal{C} \supseteq J_2 \mathcal{C} \supseteq \cdots \supseteq J_k \mathcal{C} \supseteq J_{k+1} \mathcal{C} \supseteq \cdots$$

where $J_k \mathcal{C} := \ker(\rho_k)$ for all $k \geq 1$. The submonoid $J_1 \mathcal{C}$ is denoted by $\mathcal{I} \mathcal{C}$ and it is called the monoid of homology cylinders. Notice that under the embedding described in Example 2.1, the Torelli group \mathcal{I} is mapped into \mathcal{IC} . Let $M = (M,m) \in \mathcal{C}_{g,1}$ and (B,γ) be its bottomtangle presentation. We have that M belongs to \mathcal{IC} if and only if B is a homology cube and $Lk(M) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & Id_g \\ Id_g & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \text{ see Lemma 3.7.}$ For $k \ge 1$ the k-th Johnson homomorphism for homology cobordisms

(2.5)
$$\tau_k: J_k\mathcal{C} \longrightarrow H \otimes \mathfrak{L}_{k+1}(H),$$

is defined as in the mapping class group case. In this case we also have that τ_k takes values in $D_k(H)$. We refer to [7] for further details.

It was shown by S. Morita that the Johnson homomorphism $\tau_k : J_k \mathcal{M} \to D_k(H)$ is not surjective in general (see [29, Section 6]). The situation changes if we enlarge the mapping class group to the monoid of homology cobordisms. S. Garoufalidis and J. Levine proved in [7, Theorem 3, Proposition 2.5] the following.

Theorem 2.3 (S. Garoufalidis, J. Levine). For every positive integer k, the k-th Johnson homomorphism $\tau_k : J_k \mathcal{C} \to D_k(H)$ is surjective.

Their proof uses obstruction theory and surgery techniques. N. Habegger gave in [11] a different proof of this theorem based on the surjectivity of Milnor invariants. We shall recall his proof in the next subsection, since it will be useful to us later.

2.4. Milnor invariants and the Milnor-Johnson correspondence. In this subsection we recall the Milnor invariants for string links and the Milnor-Johnson correspondence, which relates the Johnson homomorphisms with the Milnor invariants. We refer to [12, 13] for more details about Milnor invariants and to [11, 4] for more details about the Milnor-Johnson correspondence.

2.4.1. String links and Milnor invariants. We start by introducing the definition of a string link in a homology cube. Denote by D_l the surface $\Sigma_{0,1}$ together with l fixed different points p_1, \ldots, p_l distributed uniformly along the horizontal axis $\{(x,0) \mid x \in [-1,1]\}$, see Figure 4(a). A string link on l strands is an equivalence class of pairs (B,σ) , where B = (B,b) is a homology cube and $\sigma = (\sigma^1, \ldots, \sigma^l) : [-1,1]^l \to B$ is an oriented framed embedding such that $\sigma^i(\pm 1) = b(p_i, \pm 1)$, see Figure 4(b). Two pairs (B,σ) and (B',σ') are equivalent if there exists an equivalence of homology cobordisms sending σ to σ' .

The *linking matrix* of a string link (B, σ) on l strands is the matrix, with rows and columns indexed by the components of σ , defined by

$$\operatorname{Lk}_B(\sigma) := \operatorname{Lk}_{\hat{B}}(\hat{\sigma}),$$

where \hat{B} is the homology sphere $B \cup_b (\mathbb{S}^3 \setminus [-1, 1]^3)$ and $\hat{\sigma}$ is the *braid closure* of σ , see Figure 4(c).



FIGURE 4. (a) D_l , (b) a string link σ on 2 strands in $[-1,1]^2 \times [-1,1]$ and (c) braid closure of σ .

By using the composition of homology cobordisms we can compose string links on l strands. The equivalence class of $([-1, 1]^3, \mathrm{Id}_l)$, where Id_l is the trivial string link, is the identity for this composition. Denote this monoid by S_l .

We now turn to the definition of the Milnor invariants. Let $N(\{p_1, \ldots, p_l\})$ be a tubular neighborhood of the fixed points in D_l . Let D_l^o denote $D_l \setminus \operatorname{int}(N(p_1, \ldots, p_l))$ and denote by F_l the fundamental group $\pi_1(D_l^o, *)$ where $* \in \partial D_l$. We identify F_l with the free group on $\{u_1, \ldots, u_l\}$, where u_i is the homotopy class of a loop encircling the *i*-th hole of D_g^o in the counterclockwise sense. Let (B, σ) be a string link on l strands. Set $S := B \setminus \operatorname{int}(N(\sigma))$, where $N(\sigma)$ is a tubular neighborhood of σ . The homeomorphism $b : [-1, 1]^3 \to \partial B$ and the framing of σ determine an orientation-preserving homeomorphism $s : \partial(D_l^o \times [-1, 1]) \to \partial S$. Denote by $s_{\pm} : D_l^o \times \{\pm 1\} \to \partial S$ the top and bottom restrictions of s. Since B is a homology cube, the induced maps in homology $s_{\pm,*} : H_*(D_l^o; \mathbb{Z}) \to H_*(S; \mathbb{Z})$ are isomorphisms. It follows from Stallings' theorem [36, Theorem 3.4] that $s_{\pm,*}$ induce isomorphisms on the nilpotent quotients of the fundamental groups. Thus we can define for every positive integer k, the k-th Artin representation as the monoid homomorphism

(2.6)
$$A_k: \mathcal{S}_l \longrightarrow \operatorname{Aut}\left(\frac{F_l}{\Gamma_{k+1}F_l}\right),$$

that sends (B, σ) to the automorphism $s_{-,*}^{-1} \circ s_{+,*}$. The *Milnor filtration* of S_l is the descending chain of submonoids

$$\mathcal{S}_l = \mathcal{S}_l[1] \supseteq \mathcal{S}_l[2] \supseteq \cdots \supseteq \mathcal{S}_l[k] \supseteq \mathcal{S}_l[k+1] \supseteq \cdots$$

where $S_l[k] := \ker(A_k)$. Notice that $S_l[2]$ is the submonoid of string links with trivial linking matrix.

Let $(B, \sigma) \in \mathcal{S}_l[k]$ and let λ_i be the *i*-th longitude determined by the framing of the component σ^i . Since $(B, \sigma) \in \mathcal{S}_l[k]$, the homotopy class of the loop determined by λ_i becomes trivial in $\pi_1(S)/\Gamma_k \pi_1(S)$. Therefore we can define the monoid homomorphism

$$\mu_k: \mathcal{S}_l[k] \longrightarrow \frac{F_l}{\Gamma_2 F_l} \otimes \frac{\Gamma_k F_l}{\Gamma_{k+1} F_l}$$

by the formula

(2.7)
$$\mu_k(B,\sigma) = \sum_{i=1}^l u_i \otimes s_{-,*}^{-1}(\lambda_i).$$

Let us identify $F_l/\Gamma_2 F_l$ with $\widetilde{H} := H_1(D_l^o; \mathbb{Z})$ and $(\Gamma_k F_l)/(\Gamma_{k+1}F_l)$ with the k-th term $\mathfrak{L}_k(\widetilde{H})$ of the free Lie algebra generated by \widetilde{H} . The fact that the Artin representation fixes the homotopy class of ∂D_l implies that μ_k takes values in the kernel $D_{k-1}(\widetilde{H})$ of the Lie bracket [,]: $\widetilde{H} \otimes \mathfrak{L}_k(\widetilde{H}) \to \mathfrak{L}_{k+1}(\widetilde{H})$. From the above discussion, for all $k \geq 2$ we can write

(2.8)
$$\mu_k : \mathcal{S}_l[k] \longrightarrow D_{k-1}(H)$$

The monoid homomorphism μ_k is called the k-th Milnor map. Notice that ker $(\mu_k) = S_l[k+1]$. In [13, Section 1] N. Habegger and X. Lin proved that for all $k \ge 1$ the k-th Milnor map μ_k is surjective. The idea of their proof was adapted from the work of K. Orr in [33], where he studied which Milnor invariants are realizable. There is a more geometric approach to the realizability of Milnor invariants developed by T. Cochran in [5, 6], which we will need and sketch briefly in subsection 4.4.

2.4.2. The Milnor-Johnson correspondence. In [11], N. Habegger defined a bijection between homology cylinders and string links with trivial linking matrix. We follow the construction in [4] which can be described schematically as follows:

(2.9) homology cylinder \rightsquigarrow bottom-top tangle \rightsquigarrow string link.

More precisely, let (M, m) be a homology cylinder over $\Sigma_{g,1}$ and consider its bottom-top tangle presentation. Next, from a bottom-top tangle of type (g, g) we can obtain a string on 2g strands by the method illustrated in Figure 5.

In this way we transform a homology cylinder $(M, m) \in \mathcal{IC}_{g,1}$ into a string link $MJ(M) \in \mathcal{S}_{2g}$. N. Habegger proved in [11] that MJ defines a bijection between $\mathcal{IC}_{g,1}$ and the submonoid $\mathcal{S}_{2g}[2]$ of string links with trivial linking matrix. Moreover, for all $k \geq 1$ the following diagram is commutative (see [4, Claim 8.16]).



FIGURE 5. From bottom-top tangles to string links.

where the bottom isomorphism is induced by the identification $\pi \cong F_{2g}$ described as follows. Consider a free basis $\{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_g, \beta_1, \ldots, \beta_g\}$ of π induced by basing at * the system of meridians and parallels in Figure 2. Identify α_i with u_{2i-1}^{-1} and β_i with u_{2i} .

In this way, from the surjectivity of μ_{k+1} and diagram (2.10), it follows that $\tau_k : J_k \mathcal{C} \to D_k(H)$ is surjective. This is the proof of Theorem 2.3 by N. Habegger [11].

2.5. Diagrammatic version of the Johnson homomorphisms. In order to relate the Kontsevich integral with the Milnor invariants, N. Habegger and G. Masbaum gave in [14] a diagrammatic version of the Milnor map. This was also done for Johnson homomorphisms by S. Garoufalidis and J. Levine in [7]. Let us recall this description.

By a *tree-like Jacobi diagram* we mean a finite contractible unitrivalent graph such that the trivalent vertices are *oriented*, that is, each set of incident edges to a trivalent vertex is endowed with a cyclic order. The *internal degree* of such a diagram is the number of trivalent vertices; we denote it by i-deg. Let C be a finite set. We say that a tree-like Jacobi diagram T is C-colored if there is a map from the set of univalent vertices (*legs*) of T to the free abelian group generated by C. We use dashed lines to represent tree-like Jacobi diagrams and, when we draw them, we assume that the orientation of trivalent vertices is counterclockwise.

Consider the abelian group

$$\mathcal{T}(C) := \frac{\mathbb{Z}\{C\text{-colored tree-like Jacobi diagrams}\}}{\text{AS, IHX, }\mathbb{Z}\text{-multilinearity}},$$

where the relations AS, IHX are local and the multilinearity relation applies to the C-colored legs, see Figure 6.



FIGURE 6. Relations in $\mathcal{T}(C)$. Here $a, b \in \mathbb{Z} \cdot C$.

Notice that $\mathcal{T}(C)$ is graded by the internal degree: for $k \geq 1$, $\mathcal{T}_k(C)$ is the subspace of $\mathcal{T}(C)$ generated by tree-like Jacobi diagrams of i-deg = k. We can define $\mathcal{T}(G)$ for any finitely generated free abelian group G by $\mathcal{T}(G) = \mathcal{T}(C)$ where C is any set of free generators of G.

Consider the abelian group $H = H_1(\Sigma_{g,1}; \mathbb{Z})$. We have seen that the k-th Johnson homomorphism takes values in $D_k(H) \subseteq H \otimes \mathfrak{L}_{k+1}(H)$. Observe that a *rooted* tree of i-deg = k with *H*-colored legs determines a Lie commutator in $\mathfrak{L}_{k+1}(H)$. Let us consider the map

(2.11)
$$\eta_k^{\mathbb{Z}} : \mathcal{T}_k(H) \longrightarrow D_k(H), \quad T \longmapsto \sum_v \operatorname{color}(v) \otimes (T \text{ rooted at } v),$$

where the sum ranges over the set of univalent vertices of T, and the rooted trees are identified with Lie commutators. For instance,

$$\eta_2^{\mathbb{Z}} \begin{pmatrix} d & & c & c & d \\ \vdots & & b \end{pmatrix} = a \otimes \underbrace{\vdots}^{c} b + b \otimes a \\ \vdots & b + b \otimes a \\ \vdots & b \end{pmatrix} = a \otimes \underbrace{[[d, c], b] + b \otimes [a, [d, c]] + c \otimes [[b, a], d] + d \otimes [c, [b, a]]}_{i}$$

Consider the rational version of $\eta_k^{\mathbb{Z}}$:

(2.12)
$$\eta_k: \mathcal{T}_k(H) \otimes \mathbb{Q} \longrightarrow D_k(H) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$$

This map is an isomorphism, see [22, Corollary 3.2]. In this way, for $M \in J_k \mathcal{C}_{g,1}$ we define the *diagrammatic version* of the k-th Johnson homomorphism by

$$\eta_k^{-1}(\tau_k(M)) \in \mathcal{T}_k(H) \otimes \mathbb{Q}.$$

3. LAGRANGIAN VERSION OF THE JOHNSON HOMOMORPHISMS

In [21, 24], J. Levine introduced a different filtration of the mapping class group by considering a handlebody bounded by Σ . The induced inclusion determines a Lagrangian subgroup of the first homology group of the surface. This Lagrangian subgroup, together with the lower central series of the fundamental group of the handlebody, allow to define the new filtration.

3.1. **Preliminaries.** Let V (or V_g if there is ambiguity) be a handlebody of genus g. Fix a disk D on the boundary of V such that $\partial V = \Sigma \cup D$, where D and Σ are glued along their boundaries. Denote by ι the inclusion of Σ into $\partial V \subseteq V$, see Figure 7. Set $H' := H_1(V; \mathbb{Z})$ and $\pi' := \pi_1(V, \iota(*))$. Denote by A the kernel of the induced map $\iota_* : H \to H'$ in homology and by \mathbb{A} the kernel of the induced map $\iota_\# : \pi \to \pi'$ in homotopy. Notice that A is a Lagrangian subgroup of H with respect to the intersection form $\omega : H \otimes H \to \mathbb{Z}$.

Let us denote by $ab : \pi \to H$ and $ab' : \pi' \to H'$ the abelianization maps. The equality $\iota_* \circ ab = ab' \circ \iota_{\#}$ implies that $ab^{-1}(A) = \mathbb{A} \cdot \Gamma_2 \pi$. Thus, we have

$$A \xleftarrow[]{ab}{} (\mathbb{A} \cdot \Gamma_2 \pi) / \Gamma_2 \pi \cong \mathbb{A} / (\Gamma_2 \pi \cap \mathbb{A}).$$

By Hopf's formula, we obtain $(\Gamma_2 \pi \cap \mathbb{A})/[\pi, \mathbb{A}] \cong H_2(\pi/\mathbb{A}) \cong H_2(\pi')$, and since π' is a free group, $H_2(\pi') = 0$. Hence $\Gamma_2 \pi \cap \mathbb{A} = [\pi, \mathbb{A}]$. To sum up, we have the short exact sequence

$$(3.1) 1 \longrightarrow [\pi, \mathbb{A}] \longrightarrow \mathbb{A} \xrightarrow{\mathrm{ab}} A \longrightarrow 1.$$

Finally, let us recall the symplectic representation. Since the elements in \mathcal{M} are orientationpreserving, their induced maps on H preserve the intersection form. Therefore we have a map

$$\mathcal{M} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sp}(H) = \{ f \in \operatorname{Aut}(H) \mid \forall x, y \in H, \ \omega(f(x), f(y)) = \omega(x, y) \}$$

that sends $h \in \mathcal{M}$ to the induced map h_* on H. We will often need to consider bases to perform some computations. On this purpose, we fix a free basis $\{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_g, \beta_1, \ldots, \beta_g\}$ induced by basing at * the fixed system of meridians and parallels in Figure 2. We also fix the symplectic basis $\{a_1, \ldots, a_g, b_1, \ldots, b_g\}$ of H, induced by $\{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_g, \beta_1, \ldots, \beta_g\}$. Here we assume that the curves $\iota(\alpha_i)$'s bound disks in V, see Figure 7. This way, $\{a_1, \ldots, a_g\}$ is a basis for A, and $\{b_1 + A, \ldots, b_g + A\}$ is a basis for H/A.

We use the above symplectic basis of H to identify $\operatorname{Sp}(H)$ with the group $\operatorname{Sp}(2g,\mathbb{Z})$ of $(2g) \times (2g)$ matrices Λ with integer entries such that $\Lambda^T J \Lambda = J$, where J is the standard invertible skew-symmetric matrix $\begin{pmatrix} 0 & \operatorname{Id}_g \\ -\operatorname{Id}_g & 0 \end{pmatrix}$. Denote this identification by $\psi : \operatorname{Sp}(H) \to \operatorname{Sp}(2g,\mathbb{Z})$.



FIGURE 7. The inclusion $\Sigma \stackrel{\iota}{\hookrightarrow} V$.

3.2. The Lagrangian mapping class group. Let us define two important subgroups of the mapping class group associated to the Lagrangian subgroup A. Set

(3.2) $\mathcal{L} := \{ f \in \mathcal{M} \mid f_*(A) \subseteq A \} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{IL} := \{ f \in \mathcal{L} \mid f_*|_A = \mathrm{Id}_A \}.$

The subgroup \mathcal{L} is called the Lagrangian mapping class group of Σ , and \mathcal{IL} is called the strongly Lagrangian mapping class group of Σ .

Example 3.1. The Torelli group \mathcal{I} is contained in \mathcal{IL} . Also, any Dehn twist along a meridian α_i (see Figure 2) belongs to \mathcal{IL} . This shows that \mathcal{I} is strictly contained in \mathcal{IL} .

Example 3.2. Let $g \geq 2$. Consider the orientation-preserving homeomorphism $h : \Sigma \to \Sigma$ that interchanges the first and second handle in Figure 2. This homeomorphism can be extended to the handlebody V (this extension is known in the literature as *interchanging two knobs*, see [37, Section 3] for a detailed description). We have that h belongs to \mathcal{L} but not to \mathcal{IL} , hence \mathcal{IL} is strictly contained in \mathcal{L} .

Let us give some equivalent formulations of the strongly Lagrangian mapping class group. If h belongs to \mathcal{L} , then it induces a well defined isomorphism $\hat{h}_* : H/A \to H/A$ by sending x + A to $h_*(x) + A$. By means of the isomorphism $H/A \xrightarrow{\iota_*} H'$, we have an isomorphism $h'_* : H' \to H'$ defined by $h'_* := \iota_* \circ \hat{h}_* \circ \iota_*^{-1}$.

Lemma 3.3. Let h be an element in \mathcal{L} . The following assertions are equivalent:

- (i) h belongs to \mathcal{IL} .
- (ii) The induced isomorphism $h'_*: H' \to H'$ is the identity.
- $(iii) \ \iota_* \circ h_* = \iota_*.$

Proof. We use the symplectic basis $\{a_1, \ldots, a_g, b_1, \ldots, b_g\}$ and the identification $\psi : \operatorname{Sp}(H) \to \operatorname{Sp}(2g, \mathbb{Z})$ described in subsection 3.1. Let $h \in \mathcal{L}$, then there exist integers λ_{kj} , δ_{kj} and ϵ_{kj} such that for $1 \leq j \leq g$,

(3.3)
$$h_*(a_j) = \sum_{k=1}^g \lambda_{kj} a_k$$
 and $h_*(b_j) = \sum_{k=1}^g \delta_{kj} a_k + \sum_{k=1}^g \epsilon_{kj} b_k$

Hence $\psi(h_*) = \begin{pmatrix} P & Q \\ 0 & R \end{pmatrix}$, where $P = (\lambda_{ij})$, $Q = (\delta_{ij})$ and $R = (\epsilon_{ij})$. The symplectic condition on h_* becomes

$$(3.4) P^T R = \mathrm{Id}_g and Q^T R = R^T Q.$$

Recall that $\{a_1, \ldots, a_g\}$ is a basis for A, and $\{b_1 + A, \ldots, b_g + A\}$ is a basis for H/A. The matrices of $h_*|_A : A \to A$ and $\hat{h}_* : H/A \to H/A$ in these bases are P and R respectively. The first condition in (3.4) implies that $P = \mathrm{Id}_g$ if and only if $R = \mathrm{Id}_g$. Therefore we have the equivalence $(i) \Leftrightarrow (ii)$. Now, from the definition of h'_* it follows that $h'_* = \mathrm{Id}_{H'}$ if and only if $\iota_* \circ \hat{h}_* = \iota_*$ on H/A if and only if $\iota_* \circ h_* = \iota_*$ on H. Hence we have $(ii) \Leftrightarrow (iii)$. \Box

We now describe the filtration introduced by J. Levine in [21, 24].

Definition 3.4. The Lagrangian filtration or Johnson-Levine filtration $\{J_k^L \mathcal{M}\}_{k\geq 1}$ of \mathcal{M} is defined as

$$J_k^L \mathcal{M} := \{ h \in \mathcal{M} \mid \iota_{\#} h_{\#}(\mathbb{A}) \subseteq \Gamma_{k+1} \pi', \ h_* |_A = \mathrm{Id}_A \}.$$

Notice that the condition $\iota_{\#}h_{\#}(\mathbb{A}) \subseteq \Gamma_{k+1}\pi'$ implies that $h_*(A) \subseteq A$. Besides, J. Levine also defined and studied in [21, 24] a version of the Johnson homomorphisms for the above filtration. In order to define them, let us first identify H/A with A^* by sending $x + A \in H/A$ to $\omega(x, \cdot) \in A^*$. We also identify H/A with H' via the isomorphism ι_* .

Proposition 3.5. (J. Levine) For every non-negative integer k, the k-th term $J_k^L \mathcal{M}$ of the Johnson-Levine filtration is a subgroup of \mathcal{M} . Let

(3.5)
$$\tau_k^L : J_k^L \mathcal{M} \to \operatorname{Hom}(A, \Gamma_{k+1}\pi'/\Gamma_{k+2}\pi') \cong A^* \otimes \Gamma_{k+1}\pi'/\Gamma_{k+2}\pi' \cong H' \otimes \mathfrak{L}_{k+1}(H'),$$

be the map that sends $h \in J_k^L \mathcal{M}$ to the map $a \in A \mapsto \{\iota_\# h_\#(\alpha)\}_{k+2}$, where $\alpha \in \mathbb{A}$ is such that $ab(\alpha) = a$. Then τ_k^L is a group homomorphism which we shall call the k-th Johnson-Levine homomorphism.

For the sake of completeness let us see the proof.

Proof. The argument is by induction on k. From Definition 3.4, it follows that $J_1^L \mathcal{M} = \mathcal{IL}$ which is indeed a subgroup of \mathcal{M} . Now suppose that $J_k^L \mathcal{M}$ is a subgroup. Let us verify that τ_k^L is well defined and it is a group homomorphism. Let $h \in J_k^L \mathcal{M}$, $a \in A$ and $\alpha_1, \alpha_2 \in \mathbb{A}$ such that $ab(\alpha_1) = ab(\alpha_2) = a$. The short exact sequence (3.1) implies $\alpha_1 \alpha_2^{-1} = [x_1, y_1] \cdots [x_n, y_n]$ with $x_1, \ldots, x_n \in \pi$ and $y_1, \ldots, y_n \in \mathbb{A}$. Since for every j, we have that $[\iota_{\#}h_{\#}(x_j), \iota_{\#}h_{\#}(y_j)]$ is in $[\pi', \Gamma_{k+1}\pi'] = \Gamma_{k+2}\pi'$, then $\iota_{\#}h_{\#}(\alpha_1\alpha_2^{-1})$ belongs to $\Gamma_{k+2}\pi'$, so $\tau_k^L(h)$ is well defined as a map from H to $\Gamma_{k+1}\pi'/\Gamma_{k+2}\pi'$.

Clearly $\tau_k^L(h)$ belongs to Hom $(A, \Gamma_{k+1}\pi'/\Gamma_{k+2}\pi')$. Let us see that τ_k^L is a group homomorphism. Let $h, \tilde{h} \in J_k^L \mathcal{M}, a \in A$ and $\alpha \in \mathbb{A}$ with $ab(\alpha) = a$. The splittable short exact sequence

$$(3.6) 1 \longrightarrow \mathbb{A} \longrightarrow \pi \xrightarrow{\iota_{\#}} \pi' \longrightarrow 1,$$

and the fact that $\tilde{h} \in J_k^L \mathcal{M}$, allow us to write $\tilde{h}_{\#}(\alpha) = \beta y$ with $\beta \in \mathbb{A}$ and $y \in \Gamma_{k+1}\pi$. Notice that $a = \tilde{h}_*(a) = \operatorname{ab}(\tilde{h}_{\#}(\alpha)) = \operatorname{ab}(\beta y) = \operatorname{ab}(\beta)$.

On the other hand, suppose that y is a group commutator of length k + 1, say in the elements $y_1, \ldots, y_{k+1} \in \pi$ (if y is a product of such commutators, the reasoning is similar). Then $\iota_{\#}(h_{\#}(y))$ and $\iota_{\#}(y)$ are commutators of length k + 1 in the elements $\iota_{\#}(h_{\#}(y_1)), \ldots, \iota_{\#}(h_{\#}(y_{k+1}))$ and $\iota_{\#}(y_1), \ldots, \iota_{\#}(y_{k+1})$ respectively. Notice that $y, \iota_{\#}(y)$ and $\iota_{\#}(h_{\#}(y))$ have the same commutator structure, that is, they have the same bracketing structure.

Under the identification $\Gamma_{k+1}\pi'/\Gamma_{k+2}\pi' \cong \mathfrak{L}_{k+1}(H')$, the elements $\iota_{\#}(h_{\#}(y))\Gamma_{k+2}\pi'$ and $\iota_{\#}(y)\Gamma_{k+2}\pi'$ correspond to Lie commutators, with the same structure as y, in the elements $\mathrm{ab}'(\iota_{\#}(h_{\#}(y_1))),\ldots, \mathrm{ab}'(\iota_{\#}(h_{\#}(y_{k+1})))$ and $\mathrm{ab}'(\iota_{\#}(y_1)),\ldots, \mathrm{ab}'(\iota_{\#}(y_{k+1}))$ respectively. The identity $\iota_* \circ \mathrm{ab} = \mathrm{ab}' \circ \iota_{\#}$ and Lemma 3.3(*iii*) imply that

$$ab'(\iota_{\#}h_{\#}(y_j)) = \iota_*h_*(ab(y_j)) = \iota_*(ab(y_j)) = ab'(\iota_{\#}(y_j))$$

thus $\iota_{\#}h_{\#}(y)\Gamma_{k+2}\pi' = \iota_{\#}(y)\Gamma_{k+2}\pi'$. From the above discussion, it follows that

(3.7)

$$\begin{aligned} \tau_k^L(h \circ \widetilde{h})(a) &= \iota_\#(h_\#(\widetilde{h}_\#(\alpha)))\Gamma_{k+2}\pi' \\ &= \iota_\#(h_\#(\beta))\Gamma_{k+2}\pi' + \iota_\#(h_\#(y))\Gamma_{k+2}\pi' \\ &= \tau_k^L(h)(\operatorname{ab}(\beta)) + \iota_\#(h_\#(y))\Gamma_{k+2}\pi' \\ &= \tau_k^L(h)(a) + \iota_\#(y)\Gamma_{k+2}\pi' \\ &= \tau_k^L(h)(a) + \tau_k^L(\widetilde{h})(a), \end{aligned}$$

which shows that τ_k^L is a group homomorphism. From the definition of τ_k^L it follows that $\ker(\tau_k^L) = J_{k+1}^L \mathcal{M}$, and so $J_{k+1}^L \mathcal{M}$ is a subgroup of \mathcal{M} . This completes the proof. \Box

A similar argument to the one used to show that τ_k takes values in $D_k(H)$ [29, Remark 3.3], works to show that τ_k^L takes values in

$$(3.8) D_k(H') := \ker\left([,]: H' \otimes \mathfrak{L}_{k+1}(H') \longrightarrow \mathfrak{L}_{k+2}(H')\right).$$

This was already remarked by J. Levine [21, Proposition 4.3]. Let us recall the argument. Consider the bases fixed in subsection 3.1. Then, for $h \in J_k^L \mathcal{M}$ the k-th Johnson-Levine homomorphism can be written

(3.9)
$$\tau_k^L(h) = -\sum_{j=1}^g \iota_*(b_j) \otimes \{\iota_\#(h_\#(\alpha_j))\}_{k+2} = -\sum_{j=1}^g \iota_*(h_*(b_j)) \otimes \{\iota_\#(h_\#(\alpha_j))\}_{k+2},$$

where the second equality follows from Lemma 3.3(*iii*). The Lie breeket $\begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}$: $H' \otimes \Omega_{i} = (H')$ by $\Omega_{i} = (H')$ correspondence

The Lie bracket
$$[,]: H' \otimes \mathfrak{L}_{k+1}(H') \longrightarrow \mathfrak{L}_{k+2}(H')$$
 corresponds to the commutator map
(3.10) $\Psi: \frac{\pi'}{\Gamma_{k+1}} \otimes \frac{\Gamma_{k+1}\pi'}{\Gamma_{k+2}} \longrightarrow \frac{\Gamma_{k+2}\pi'}{\Gamma_{k+2}},$

(10)
$$\Psi: \frac{\pi}{\Gamma_2 \pi'} \otimes \frac{\Gamma_{k+1} \pi}{\Gamma_{k+2} \pi'} \longrightarrow \frac{\Gamma_{k+2} \pi}{\Gamma_{k+3} \pi'}$$

that sends $\{x'\}_2 \otimes \{y'\}_{k+2}$ to $[x', y']\Gamma_{k+3}\pi'$. Thus

$$\Psi(\tau_{k}^{L}(h)) = \sum_{j=1}^{g} \Psi\left(\iota_{*}(h_{*}(-b_{j})) \otimes \iota_{\#}(h_{\#}(\alpha_{j}))\Gamma_{k+2}\pi'\right)$$
$$= \sum_{j=1}^{g} \Psi\left(\{\iota_{\#}h_{\#}(\beta_{j}^{-1})\}_{2} \otimes \{\iota_{\#}h_{\#}(\alpha_{j})\}_{k+2}\right)$$
$$= \iota_{\#}h_{\#}\left(\prod_{j=1}^{g} \left[\beta_{j}^{-1}, \alpha_{j}\right]\right)\Gamma_{k+3}\pi'$$
$$= \Gamma_{k+3}\pi',$$

where the last equality holds because $\prod_{j=1}^{g} [\beta_j^{-1}, \alpha_j]$ represents the inverse of the homotopy class of $\partial \Sigma$ (see Figure 7), and this element is fixed by $h_{\#}$. Hence $\tau_k^L(h) \in D_k(H')$. To sum up, we have a descending chain of subgroups

(3.11)
$$\mathcal{M} \supseteq \mathcal{L} \supseteq \mathcal{I}\mathcal{L} = J_1^L \mathcal{M} \supseteq J_2^L \mathcal{M} \supseteq \cdots$$

and a family of group homomorphisms

(3.12)
$$\tau_k^L : J_k^L \mathcal{M} \to D_k(H').$$

Remark 3.6. Let \mathcal{H} (or $\mathcal{H}_{g,1}$) be the subgroup of \mathcal{M} consisting of the elements that can be extended to the handlebody V. The subgroup \mathcal{H} is called the *handlebody group* and is contained in \mathcal{L} . By virtue of Dehn's lemma $\mathcal{H} = \{h \in \mathcal{M} \mid h_{\#}(\mathbb{A}) \subseteq \mathbb{A}\}$, see [10, Theorem 10.1]. J. Levine showed in [21, Proposition 4.1] that

$$\bigcap_{k\geq 1} J_k^L \mathcal{M} = \mathcal{H} \cap \mathcal{IL}.$$

The inclusion $\mathcal{H} \cap \mathcal{IL} \subseteq \bigcap_{k \ge 1} J_k^L \mathcal{M}$ is clear. Now, let $h \in \bigcap_{k \ge 1} J_k^L \mathcal{M}$ and $\alpha \in \mathbb{A}$, thus $\iota_{\#} h_{\#}(\alpha) \in \Gamma_{k+1} \pi'$ for all $k \ge 1$. Since π' is residually nilpotent we have $\iota_{\#} h_{\#}(\alpha) = 1$, that is, $h_{\#}(\alpha) \in \mathbb{A}$. Hence $\bigcap_{k \ge 1} J_k^L \mathcal{M} \subseteq \mathcal{H} \cap \mathcal{IL}$.

3.3. The monoid of Lagrangian homology cobordisms. The Johnson-Levine filtration can be defined similarly on the monoid C of homology cobordisms. Let us start by defining the analogues to the Lagrangian and strongly Lagrangian mapping class groups.

The monoid of Lagrangian homology cobordisms is defined as

$$(3.13) \qquad \mathcal{LC} := \{ (M,m) \in \mathcal{C} \mid \rho_1(M)(A) \subseteq A \} = \{ (M,m) \in \mathcal{C} \mid m_{+,*}(A) \subseteq m_{-,*}(A) \},\$$

and the monoid of strongly Lagrangian homology cobordisms is defined as

(3.14)
$$\mathcal{ILC} := \{ (M, m) \in \mathcal{LC} \mid \rho_1(M) |_A = \mathrm{Id}_A \} = \{ (M, m) \in \mathcal{LC} \mid m_{+,*} |_A = m_{-,*} |_A \}.$$

Notice that we have the inclusions $\mathcal{IL} \subseteq \mathcal{ILC} \subseteq \mathcal{LC}$. Let us see how these monoids are characterized in terms of the linking matrix.

Lemma 3.7. Let $M \in C_{g,1}$ and let (B, γ) be its bottom-top tangle presentation. Then

(i) M belongs to $\mathcal{LC}_{g,1}$ if and only if B is a homology cube and $\operatorname{Lk}(M) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \Lambda \\ \Lambda^T & \Lambda \end{pmatrix}$,

- (ii) M belongs to $\mathcal{ILC}_{g,1}$ if and only if B is a homology cube and $Lk(M) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \mathrm{Id}_g \\ \mathrm{Id}_g & \Delta \end{pmatrix}$,
- (iii) M belongs to $\mathcal{IC}_{g,1}$ if and only if B is a homology cube and $\operatorname{Lk}(M) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \operatorname{Id}_g \\ \operatorname{Id}_g & 0 \end{pmatrix}$,

where Λ and Δ are $g \times g$ matrices and Δ is symmetric.

Proof. The proof is similar to the proof of [4, Lemma 2.12]. Consider the bases fixed in subsection 3.1. A Mayer-Vietoris argument shows that $H_1(B;\mathbb{Z})$ is isomorphic to the quotient of $H_1(M;\mathbb{Z})$ by the subgroup spanned by $S = \{m_{+,*}(b_1), \ldots, m_{+,*}(b_g), m_{+,*}(a_1), \ldots, m_{+,*}(a_g)\}$. Hence B is a homology cube if and only if S is a basis for $H_1(M;\mathbb{Z})$.

If S is a basis for $H_1(M; \mathbb{Z})$, then for $1 \leq j \leq g$,

(3.15)

$$m_{+,*}(a_j) = \sum_{k=1}^g \chi_{kj} m_{+,*}(b_k) + \lambda_{kj} m_{-,*}(a_k) \quad \text{and} \quad m_{-,*}(b_j) = \sum_{k=1}^g \epsilon_{kj} m_{+,*}(b_k) + \delta_{kj} m_{-,*}(a_k),$$

where the χ 's, λ 's, ϵ 's and δ 's are integer coefficients. We observe that $m_{-}(\beta_{k})$ and $m_{-}(\alpha_{k})$ are the oriented longitude and oriented meridian of γ_{k}^{-} , respectively. Similarly $m_{+}(\alpha_{k})$ and $m_{+}(\beta_{k})$ are the oriented longitude and oriented meridian of γ_{k}^{+} , respectively, see Figure 3. Now, the columns of $\text{Lk}(B, \gamma)$ express how the oriented longitudes $m_{+}(\alpha_{1}), \ldots, m_{+}(\alpha_{k}), m_{-}(\beta_{1}), \ldots, m_{-}(\beta_{g})$ expand in the basis S. So we have $\chi_{ij} = \chi_{ji}, \lambda_{ij} = \epsilon_{ji}, \delta_{ij} = \delta_{ji}$ and $\text{Lk}(M) = \begin{pmatrix} X & \Lambda^{T} \\ \Lambda & \Delta^{T} \end{pmatrix}$, where $X = (\chi_{ij}), \Lambda = (\lambda_{ij})$ and $\Delta = (\delta_{ij})$.

If $M \in \mathcal{LC}_{g,1}$, then $m_{+,*}(A) \subseteq m_{-,*}(A)$ so S is a basis for $H_1(M;\mathbb{Z})$ and all the coefficients χ_{ij} in equation (3.15) are zero. Thus B is a homology cube and X = 0. Conversely, if B is a homology cube and X = 0, then $M \in \mathcal{LC}_{g,1}$. Therefore we have (i).

Now assuming that B is a homology cube, we have that $M \in \mathcal{ILC}$ if and only if X = 0 and $\Lambda = \mathrm{Id}_g$, thus we have (*ii*). Similarly, $M \in \mathcal{IC}$ if and only if $X = \Delta = 0$ and $\Lambda = \mathrm{Id}_g$, so we have (*iii*).

Using Lemma 3.7 let us now see that the inclusions $\mathcal{IC} \subseteq \mathcal{ILC}$ and $\mathcal{ILC} \subseteq \mathcal{LC}$ are strict.

Example 3.8. Let $g \ge 2$. Consider the identity cobordism $M = \sum_{g,1} \times [-1,1]$ and embed two framed Hopf links L_1 and L_2 as in Figure 8(a). Perform surgery along L_1 and L_2 . The resulting cobordism $M_{L_1 \cup L_2}$ belongs to \mathcal{LC} but not to \mathcal{ILC} . This follows from Lemma 3.7: in Figure 8(b) we show the bottom-top tangle presentation of $M_{L_1 \cup L_2}$, which allows to compute its linking matrix.



FIGURE 8. (a) Embedding of L_1 and L_2 in M and (b) bottom-top tangle presentation of $M_{L_1 \cup L_2}$.

Example 3.9. Let $g \ge 2$. Consider $M = \Sigma_{g,1} \times [-1, 1]$ and embed a framed Hopf link L as in Figure 9(a). The resulting cobordism M_L , obtained after surgery along L, belongs to \mathcal{ILC} but not to \mathcal{IC} . In Figure 9(b) we show the bottom-top tangle presentation of M_L , which allows to compute its linking matrix.



FIGURE 9. (a) Embedding of L in M and (b) bottom-top tangle presentation of M_L .

Definition 3.10. The Lagrangian filtration or Johnson-Levine filtration of C is the descending chain of submonoids $\{J_k^L C\}_{k\geq 1}$ defined as

$$J_k^L \mathcal{C} := \{ (M,m) \in \mathcal{ILC} \mid \forall \alpha \in \mathbb{A}, \ \iota_{k+1} \rho_k(M)(\{\alpha\}_{k+1}) = 1 \in \pi'/\Gamma_{k+1}\pi' \},$$

where $\iota_{k+1} : \pi/\Gamma_{k+1}\pi \to \pi'/\Gamma_{k+1}\pi'$ is induced by $\iota_{\#} : \pi \to \pi'.$

Notice that $J_1^L \mathcal{C} = \mathcal{ILC}$. To summarize, we have a descending chain of submonoids

(3.16)
$$\mathcal{C} \supseteq \mathcal{LC} \supseteq \mathcal{ILC} = J_1^L \mathcal{C} \supseteq J_2^L \mathcal{C} \supseteq \cdots$$

Definition 3.11. Let $k \ge 1$. The k-th Johnson-Levine homomorphism

(3.17)
$$\tau_{k}^{L}: J_{k}^{L}\mathcal{C} \to \operatorname{Hom}(A, \Gamma_{k+1}\pi'/\Gamma_{k+2}\pi') \cong A^{*} \otimes \mathfrak{L}_{k+1}(H') \cong H' \otimes \mathfrak{L}_{k+1}(H'),$$

is the map that sends $(M, m) \in J_k^L \mathcal{C}$ to the map $a \in A \mapsto \{\iota_{k+2}\rho_{k+1}(M)(\{\alpha\})\}_{k+2}$, where $\alpha \in \mathbb{A}$ is such that $ab(\alpha) = a$.

Notice that $\ker(\tau_k^L) = J_{k+1}^L \mathcal{C}$. The same arguments as those used in the case of the mapping class group, work to show that $J_k^L \mathcal{C}$ is a submonoid of \mathcal{C} and that τ_k^L is well defined, it is a monoid homomorphism, and that it takes values in $D_k(H')$.

4. PROPERTIES OF THE JOHNSON-LEVINE HOMOMORPHISMS

In this section we study some properties of the Johnson-Levine homomorphisms and we compare the Johnson-Levine filtration to the Johnson Levine filtration.

4.1. Surjectivity of the Johnson-Levine homomorphisms. Let us start by the compatibility between the Johnson and Johnson-Levine homomorphisms. The surjective homomorphism $\iota_* : H \to H'$ induces surjective homomorphisms $\mathfrak{L}_k(H) \to \mathfrak{L}_k(H')$ which are compatible with the Lie bracket.

Lemma 4.1. The map $\iota_* : D_k(H) \to D_k(H')$ induced by $\iota_* : H \to H'$ is surjective.

Proof. The result follows from the existence of a group section $s : H' \to H$ of the surjective homomorphism $\iota_* : H \to H'$ and the commutative diagram

More precisely, denote by Ψ and Ψ' the Lie brackets $[,]: H \otimes \mathfrak{L}_{k+1}(H) \to \mathfrak{L}_{k+2}(H)$ and $[,]: H' \otimes \mathfrak{L}_{k+1}(H') \to \mathfrak{L}_{k+2}(H')$, respectively. Let $y \in D_k(H') \subseteq H' \otimes \mathfrak{L}_{k+1}(H')$. The group section s allows us to lift y to $s(y) \in H \otimes \mathfrak{L}_{k+1}(H)$ such that $\iota_*(s(y)) = y$. We deduce $\Psi(s(y)) = s\Psi'(y) = 0$, hence $s(y) \in D_k(H)$. \Box

As pointed out by J. Levine in [24, Section 4], in the mapping class group case, the Johnson homomorphisms and the Johnson-Levine homomorphisms are compatible. This also holds for the monoid of homology cobordisms.

Proposition 4.2. For every positive integer k, the diagram

is commutative.

Proof. From the definitions, it is clear that $J_k \mathcal{C} \subseteq J_k^L \mathcal{C}$ for all $k \geq 1$. Consider the free basis $\{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_g, \beta_1, \ldots, \beta_g\}$ of π and the symplectic basis $\{a_1, \ldots, a_g, b_1, \ldots, b_g\}$ of H fixed in subsection 3.1. Let $M = (M, m) \in J_k \mathcal{C} \subseteq J_k^L \mathcal{C}$. In these bases, the k-th Johnson homomorphism is given by the formula

$$(4.3) \ \tau_k(M) = \sum_{j=1}^g a_j \otimes \left(\rho_{k+1}(M)(\{\beta_j\}) \cdot \{\beta_j^{-1}\}_{k+2}\right) - \sum_{j=1}^g b_j \otimes \left(\rho_{k+1}(M)(\{\alpha_j\})\right) \cdot \{\alpha_j^{-1}\}_{k+2}\right).$$

Similarly, the k-th Johnson-Levine homomorphism is given by the formula

(4.4)
$$\tau_k^L(M) = -\sum_{j=1}^g \iota_*(b_j) \otimes (\iota_{k+2}\rho_{k+1}(M)(\{\alpha_j\}))$$

Thus by applying $\iota_* : D_k(H) \to D_k(H')$ to equation (4.3) we obtain $\iota_* \tau_k(M) = \tau_k^L(M)$.

From Proposition 4.2 and Theorem 2.3 we obtain the following corollary.

Corollary 4.3. For every positive integer k, we have

(4.5)
$$\ker(D_k(H) \xrightarrow{\iota_*} D_k(H')) = \tau_k(J_k\mathcal{C} \cap J_{k+1}^L\mathcal{C})$$

According to Lemma 4.1, Proposition 4.2 and Theorem 2.3, we have the following.

Corollary 4.4 (J. Levine [21] Theorem 8). For all $k \ge 1$, the Johnson-Levine homomorphism $\tau_k^L : J_k^L \mathcal{C} \to D_k(H')$ is surjective.

The proof of J. Levine does not use Theorem 2.3, instead, it uses the Oda embedding [31] and the surjectivity of Milnor invariants. More precisely, by choosing an embedding of the disk D_g^o with g holes into Σ , we obtain the so-called *Oda embedding* $\mathcal{O} : S_g \longrightarrow C_{g,1}$, see [21, Section 3.2]. This embedding relates the Milnor filtration with the Johnson filtration and it is compatible with the Milnor maps and the Johnson-Levine homomorphisms. These properties of the Oda embedding imply the surjectivity of the Johnson-Levine homomorphisms, for further details see [21, Theorem 8].

4.2. Invariance under the Y_k -equivalence relation. In order to compare the Johnson filtration and the Johnson-Levine filtration, from our approach, we need to take some quotients of $J_k \mathcal{C}$ and $J_k^L \mathcal{C}$ by some equivalence relations to obtain a group structure compatible with the Johnson and Johnson-Levine homomorphisms. There are at least two ways to obtain a group from the monoid of homology cobordisms. One way is to consider homology cobordisms up to 4-dimensional homology bordism, see [21, 7]. Another way is to consider homology cobordisms up to Y_k -equivalence. We follow the latter approach. The notion of Y_k -equivalence was introduced independently by M. Goussarov in [9, 8] and by K. Habiro in [15] in their study of finite type invariants. Here, we follow the terminology of [15].

Let G be a graph that can be decomposed into two subgraphs, say $G = G' \cup G^o$, such that G' is a unitrivalent graph and G^o is a union of looped edges of G. The subgraph G' is called the *shape* of G. Let us consider a pair (M, γ) , where M is a compact oriented 3-manifold (possibly with boundary) and γ is a framed oriented tangle (possibly empty) in M such that $\partial \gamma$ (if any) are fixed points in ∂M . A graph clasper in (M, γ) is an embedding $\mathbb{G} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{int}(M \setminus \gamma)$ of a thickening \mathbb{G} of G, see Figure 10. We still denote the image of the embedding by G. In particular, if the shape of G is simply connected, we call it a *tree clasper*. The *degree* of a graph clasper is the number of trivalent vertices of its shape. If G has degree 1 we call it a Y-clasper. From now on, we assume that the degree of graph claspers is greater than or equal to 1.



FIGURE 10. (a) Graph G. (b) Thickening \mathbb{G} . (c) Embedding $\mathbb{G} \hookrightarrow M$.

A graph clasper G in (M, γ) carries surgery instructions for modifying this pair as follows. Suppose that G has degree 1. Consider a regular neighborhood N(G) of G in $int(M \setminus \gamma)$. Perform surgery in N(G) along the framed six-component link L illustrated in Figure 11.



FIGURE 11. Framed link associated to a Y-clasper.

Denote the result by $N(G)_L$. We obtain a new pair (M_G, γ_G) by setting

$$M_G := (M \setminus N(G)) \cup N(G)_L,$$

and γ_G equal to the trace of γ under the surgery. If G is of degree > 1 we apply the fission rule, illustrated in Figure 12, until obtaining a disjoint union of Y-claspers. Then (M_G, γ_G) is defined by performing surgery as before along each Y-clasper. We say that (M_G, γ_G) is obtained from (M, γ) by a Y_k-surgery, where k is the degree of G.



FIGURE 12. Fission rule.

The Y_k -equivalence is the equivalence relation among pairs (M, γ) generated by Y_k -surgeries and orientation-preserving homeomorphisms. For $l \ge k$, Y_l -equivalence implies Y_k -equivalence (this follows from Move 2 and Move 9 in [15, Section 2.4]).

Let us restrict to the monoid of homology cobordisms. K. Habiro proved in [15, Theorem 5.4] that \mathcal{IC}/Y_r is a group. His proof is done in the setting of string links but the arguments are the same for \mathcal{IC} , see also [9, Theorem 9.2]. From the short exact sequence

$$1 \longrightarrow \mathcal{IC}/Y_r \xrightarrow{\subset} \mathcal{C}/Y_r \xrightarrow{\rho_1} \operatorname{Sp}(H) \longrightarrow 1,$$

it follows that \mathcal{C}/Y_r is also a group. From [26, Lemma 6.1] it follows that the homomorphism $\rho_{k+1} : \mathcal{C} \to \operatorname{Aut}(\pi/\Gamma_{k+2}\pi)$ is invariant under Y_{k+1} -equivalence. Therefore, the Johnson homomorphism τ_k and the Johnson-Levine homomorphism τ_k^L are invariant under Y_{k+l} -equivalence for all $l \geq 1$.

Lemma 4.5. For $r \ge k \ge 1$, the group \mathcal{C}/Y_r contains $J_k \mathcal{C}/Y_r$ and $J_k^L \mathcal{C}/Y_r$ as subgroups.

Proof. It is enough to show that $J_k \mathcal{C}/Y_r$ and $J_k^L \mathcal{C}/Y_r$ are closed under inverses. Let $\{M\} \in J_k \mathcal{C}/Y_r$, then there exists $\{N\} \in \mathcal{C}/Y_r$ such that $\{N\}\{M\} = \{\Sigma \times [-1,1]\}$ in \mathcal{C}/Y_r . By the invariance of ρ_k under Y_r -equivalence, we have

$$\mathrm{Id}_{\pi/\Gamma_{k+1}\pi} = \rho_k(N) \circ \rho_k(M) = \rho_k(N),$$

hence $\{N\} \in J_k \mathcal{C}/Y_r$.

Now, let us show by induction on k that $J_k^L \mathcal{C}/Y_r$ is closed under inverses. Suppose that k = 1and let $\{M\} \in J_1^L \mathcal{C}/Y_r$. Consider $\{N\} \in \mathcal{C}/Y_r$ such that $\{N\}\{M\} = \{\Sigma \times [-1,1]\}$ in \mathcal{C}/Y_r . By the invariance of ρ_1 under Y_r -equivalence, we have $\mathrm{Id}_H = \rho_1(N) \circ \rho_1(M)$. Let $a \in A$, thus $\rho_1(N)(a) = \rho_1(N)(\rho_1(M)(a)) = a$. Therefore $\{N\} \in J_1^L \mathcal{C}/Y_r$. Next, suppose that $k \ge 2$ and let $\{M\} \in J_k^L \mathcal{C}/Y_r$. Since $J_k^L \mathcal{C} \subseteq J_{k-1}^L \mathcal{C}$, by induction there exists $\{N\} \in J_{k-1}^L \mathcal{C}/Y_r$ such that $\{N\}\{M\} = \{\Sigma \times [-1,1]\}$ in $J_{k-1}^L \mathcal{C}/Y_r$. On the other hand $\tau_{k-1}^L(M) = 0$, so we have

$$\tau_{k-1}^L(N) = \tau_{k-1}^L(N) + \tau_{k-1}^L(M) = 0$$

Hence $\{N\} \in J_k^L \mathcal{C}/Y_r$.

4.3. Comparison of the Johnson and Johnson-Levine filtrations. Consider the handlebody V as in subsection 3.1, seeing it as a cobordism from Σ to $\Sigma_{0,1} = D$, the fixed disk on ∂V , see Figure 13.



FIGURE 13. The handlebody V as a cobordism from Σ to $\Sigma_{0,1}$.

Denote by \mathcal{HC} the submonoid of \mathcal{C} consisting of the cobordisms (M, m) such that $M \cup_{m_{-}} V$ is equal to V as cobordisms. Notice that $\mathcal{HC} \cap \mathcal{M}$ is the handlebody group \mathcal{H} defined in Remark 3.6.

Lemma 4.6. We have the inclusion $\mathcal{HC} \cap \mathcal{ILC} \subseteq \bigcap_{k \geq 1} J_k^L \mathcal{C}$.

Proof. Consider the system of meridians and parallels $\{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_g, \beta_1, \ldots, \beta_g\}$ of Σ and denote in the same way an induced system of generators of π . Notice that $\mathbb{A} = \ker(\pi_1(\Sigma) \xrightarrow{\iota_{\#}} \pi_1(V))$ is the normal closure of $\{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_g\}$. Let $(M, m) \in \mathcal{HC} \cap \mathcal{ILC}$. It is enough to show that, for all $1 \leq i \leq g$ and for all $k \geq 1$, we have $\rho_k(M)(\{\alpha_i\}) \in (\mathbb{A} \cdot \Gamma_{k+1}\pi)/\Gamma_{k+1}\pi$. Indeed, since $M \cup_{m_-} V \cong V$, the curve $m_+(\alpha_i)$ bounds a disk D^i in $M \cup_{m_-} V$. Now, some of the curves $m_-(\beta_j)$ intersect D^i in a transversal way. Hence $m_{+,\#}(\alpha_i)$ can be written as a product of homotopy classes of meridians associated to those curves $m_-(\beta_j)$ intersecting D^i . Since all the meridians are conjugates, we conclude that $m_{+,\#}(\alpha_i)$ can be written as a product of conjugates of the homotopy classes of the curves $m_-(\alpha_j)$. Hence $\rho_k(M)(\{\alpha_i\})$ belongs to $(\mathbb{A} \cdot \Gamma_{k+1}\pi)/\Gamma_{k+1}\pi$. Therefore M belongs to $\bigcap_{k\geq 1} J_k^L C$.

The other inclusion does not hold. To see this, consider any homology sphere P not homeomorphic to \mathbb{S}^3 . The connected sum $M = (\Sigma \times [-1, 1]) \# P$ is a homology cobordism, which by construction, belongs to $\bigcap_{k\geq 1} J_k^L \mathcal{C}$ and does not belong to \mathcal{HC} . This contrasts with the mapping class group case where the respective equality holds, see Remark 3.6.

Proposition 4.7. For all $k \ge 1$, we have ker $(D_k(H) \to D_k(H')) = \tau_k (\mathcal{HC} \cap J_k\mathcal{C})$.

We postpone the proof of this proposition to subsection 4.4.

Lemma 4.8. For all $k, l \ge 1$, we have

(4.6)
$$\tau_k \left(\mathcal{HC} \cap J_k \mathcal{C} \right) = \tau_k \left(J_k \mathcal{C} \cap J_{k+1}^L \mathcal{C} \right)$$

(4.7)
$$\frac{J_k \mathcal{C} \cap J_{k+1}^L \mathcal{C}}{Y_{k+1+l}} = \frac{J_{k+1} \mathcal{C}}{Y_{k+1+l}} \cdot q_{k+1+l} \left(\mathcal{HC} \cap J_k \mathcal{C}\right)$$

in \mathcal{C}/Y_{k+1+l} , where $q_{k+1+l}: \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{C}/Y_{k+1+l}$ is the canonical projection.

Proof. Equality (4.6) follows from Proposition 4.7 and Corollary 4.3. Let us show equality (4.7). The inclusion " \supseteq " follows from Lemma 4.6. Let $M \in J_k \mathcal{C} \cap J_{k+1}^L \mathcal{C}$, thus by (4.6), $\tau_k(M) = \tau_k(U)$ for some element $U \in \mathcal{HC} \cap J_k \mathcal{C}$. But we can consider the inverse of $\{U\}$ in \mathcal{C}/Y_{k+1+l} , then $\{M\}\{U\}^{-1} \in \ker(J_k \mathcal{C}/Y_{k+1+l} \xrightarrow{\tau_k} D_k(H))$. Thus $\{M\} = \{X\}\{U\}$ with $X \in \ker(\tau_k) = J_{k+1}\mathcal{C}$.

In [24, Proposition 6.1], J. Levine showed that $J_k^L \mathcal{M} = J_k \mathcal{M} \cdot (\mathcal{H} \cap \mathcal{IL})$ for k = 1, 2 and he asked if this holds for all k. In the case of homology cobordisms we have the following result.

Theorem 4.9. For all
$$k, l \geq 1$$
,

(4.8)
$$\frac{J_k^L \mathcal{C}}{Y_{k+l}} = \frac{J_k \mathcal{C}}{Y_{k+l}} \cdot q_{k+l} \left(\mathcal{HC} \cap \mathcal{ILC} \right),$$

where $q_{k+l} : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{C}/Y_{k+l}$ is the canonical projection.

Proof. By Lemma 4.6, $(J_k \mathcal{C}/Y_{k+l}) \cdot q_{k+l} (\mathcal{HC} \cap \mathcal{ILC})$ is contained in $J_k^L \mathcal{C}/Y_{k+l}$. Let us show the other inclusion by induction on k. The argument for the case k = 1 is similar to the one used by J. Levine in [24, Proposition 6.1]. Indeed, let $M \in \mathcal{ILC}/Y_{1+l}$ with $\rho_1(M) \in \operatorname{Sp}(H)$. Identify $\operatorname{Sp}(H)$ with $\operatorname{Sp}(2g,\mathbb{Z})$ as in subsection 3.1. Now, every matrix $\begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{Id}_g & \Lambda \\ 0 & \operatorname{Id}_g \end{pmatrix}$ in $\operatorname{Sp}(H)$ can be realized as the image by ρ_1 of an element in $\mathcal{H} \cap \mathcal{IL}$, see [24, Lemma 6.3]. Let $P \in \mathcal{H} \cap \mathcal{IL}$ that realizes the matrix $\rho_1(M)$ and consider the inverse $\{P\}^{-1}$ of $\{P\}$ in \mathcal{C}/Y_{1+l} (this is actually the class of the inverse of P in \mathcal{M}). Hence $\{M\}\{P\}^{-1}$ acts trivially in homology, that is, $\{M\}\{P\}^{-1} = \{N\} \in \mathcal{IC} = J_1\mathcal{C}$. Therefore

$$\{M\} = \{N\}\{P\} \in \frac{J_1\mathcal{C}}{Y_{1+l}} \cdot q_{1+l} \left(\mathcal{HC} \cap \mathcal{ILC}\right).$$

Suppose that the inclusion " \subseteq " in (4.8) is true for k. Thus we have

(4.9)
$$\frac{J_{k+1}^{L}\mathcal{C}}{Y_{k+1+l}} \subseteq \frac{J_{k}^{L}\mathcal{C}}{Y_{k+1+l}} \subseteq \frac{J_{k}\mathcal{C}}{Y_{k+1+l}} \cdot q_{k+1+l} \left(\mathcal{HC} \cap \mathcal{ILC}\right).$$

Let $M \in J_{k+1}^L \mathcal{C}$. By the above inclusion we can write $\{M\} = \{N\}\{P\}$ with $N \in J_k \mathcal{C}$ and $P \in \mathcal{HC} \cap \mathcal{ILC}$. Notice that $\tau_k^L(P) = 0$ by Lemma 4.6. Since τ_k^L is invariant under Y_{k+1+l} -surgery (see subsection 4.2), we have

$$0 = \tau_k^L(M) = \tau_k^L(N) + \tau_k^L(P) = \tau_k^L(N),$$

therefore $N \in \ker(\tau_k^L) = J_{k+1}^L \mathcal{C}$. Hence $N \in J_k \mathcal{C} \cap J_{k+1}^L \mathcal{C}$. From equality (4.7) in Lemma 4.8, it follows that $\{N\} \in (J_{k+1}\mathcal{C}/Y_{k+1+l}) \cdot q_{k+1+l} (\mathcal{HC} \cap J_k \mathcal{C})$. Hence

$$\{M\} = \{N\}\{P\} \in \left(\frac{J_{k+1}\mathcal{C}}{Y_{k+1+l}} \cdot q_{k+1+l} \left(\mathcal{HC} \cap J_k\mathcal{C}\right)\right) \cdot q_{k+1+l} \left(\mathcal{HC} \cap \mathcal{ILC}\right)$$
$$\subseteq \frac{J_{k+1}\mathcal{C}}{Y_{k+1+l}} \cdot q_{k+1+l} \left(\mathcal{HC} \cap \mathcal{ILC}\right),$$

which completes the proof.

4.4. **Proof of Proposition 4.7.** Let us start by reviewing some preliminaries, we follow [23]. Consider the *free quasi-Lie algebra*

$$\mathfrak{L}^q(H) = \bigoplus_{k \geq 1} \mathfrak{L}^q_k(H)$$

generated by the \mathbb{Z} -module H, that is, instead of the relation [x, x] = 0 in $\mathfrak{L}(H)$ we have the antisymmetry relation [x, y] + [y, x] = 0. Let $D_k^q(H)$ denote the kernel of the quasi-Lie bracket map $[,]: H \otimes \mathfrak{L}_{k+1}^q(H) \to \mathfrak{L}_{k+2}^q(H)$. There is a canonical map $\mathfrak{L}^q(H) \to \mathfrak{L}(H)$, which induces a homomorphism $D^q(H) = \bigoplus_{k>1} D_k^q(H) \to D(H) = \bigoplus_{k>1} D_k(H)$.

We can define a homomorphism

(4.10)
$$\eta_k^q : \mathcal{T}_k(H) \longrightarrow D_k^q(H)$$

in the same way that we defined the homomorphism $\eta_k^{\mathbb{Z}} : \mathcal{T}_k(H) \to D_k(H)$ in subsection 2.5: the composition of η_k^q with the canonical map $D_k^q(H) \to D_k(H)$ is exactly $\eta_k^{\mathbb{Z}}$. Recall that we denote by $\eta_k : \mathcal{T}_k(H) \otimes \mathbb{Q} \to D_k(H) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ the rationalization of $\eta_k^{\mathbb{Z}}$. J. Levine carried in [23] a detailed study of the homomorphism η_k^q . In particular, he obtained ([23, Corollary 2.3]) for all $j \geq 1$ the following short exact sequences

$$(4.11) 0 \longrightarrow H \otimes \mathfrak{L}_j(H) \otimes \mathbb{Z}/2 \xrightarrow{s} D^q_{2j-1}(H) \longrightarrow D_{2j-1}(H) \longrightarrow 0$$

where $s(h \otimes u \otimes 1) = h \otimes [u, u]$ for $h \in H$ and $u \in \mathfrak{L}_j(H)$, and

(4.12)
$$0 \longrightarrow D_{2j}^q(H) \longrightarrow D_{2j}(H) \stackrel{p}{\longrightarrow} \mathfrak{L}_{j+1}(H) \otimes \mathbb{Z}/2 \longrightarrow 0.$$

To describe the map p in (4.12) let us first recall from [23, Remark 2.4] some elements of $D_{2j}(H)$ which do not come from $D_{2j}^q(H)$. Let $u \in \mathfrak{L}_{j+1}(H)$ and denote by $\operatorname{tr}(u)$ the associated rooted tree. Let $\operatorname{tr}(u) \odot \operatorname{tr}(u)$ be the Jacobi diagram obtained by joining the roots of two copies of $\operatorname{tr}(u)$. The element $\eta_{2j}(\frac{1}{2}\operatorname{tr}(u) \odot \operatorname{tr}(u))$ belongs to $D_{2j}(H)$ and does not belong to $D_{2j}^q(H)$. The map p sends $\eta_{2j}(\frac{1}{2}\operatorname{tr}(u) \odot \operatorname{tr}(u))$ to $u \otimes 1$.

J. Levine also proved [22, Theorem 1] that the map η_k^q is surjective and that $(k+2)\text{ker}(\eta_k^q) = 0$. (These results imply, in particular, that η_k is an isomorphism, as we recalled at the end of subsection 2.5). From the exact sequences (4.11) and (4.12) together with the surjectivity of η_k^q we deduce the following.

Corollary 4.10. For all $j \ge 1$,

- (i) $D_{2j-1}(H)$ is generated by the elements $\eta_{2j-1}^{\mathbb{Z}}(v)$ with $v \in \mathcal{T}_{2j-1}(H)$.
- (ii) $D_{2j}(H)$ is generated by the elements $\eta_{2j}^{\mathbb{Z}}(v)$ with $v \in \mathcal{T}_{2j}(H)$ and $\eta_{2j}(\frac{1}{2}\mathrm{tr}(u)\odot\mathrm{tr}(u))$ with $u \in \mathfrak{L}_{j+1}(H)$.

Lemma 4.11. Let $S = \{a_1, \ldots, a_g, b_1, \ldots, b_g\}$ be the fixed symplectic basis of H. For all $j \ge 1$,

(i) $\ker(D_{2j-1}(H) \to D_{2j-1}(H'))$ is generated by the elements $\eta_{2j-1}^{\mathbb{Z}}(v)$ with v a tree-like Jacobi diagram with legs colored by S and at least one leg colored by some a_i .

(ii) ker $(D_{2j}(H) \to D_{2j}(H'))$ is generated by the elements $\eta_{2j}^{\mathbb{Z}}(v)$ with v a tree-like Jacobi diagram with legs colored by S, with at least one leg colored by some a_i ; and the elements $\eta_{2i}(\frac{1}{2}\mathrm{tr}(u)\odot\mathrm{tr}(u))$ with $u\in\mathfrak{L}_{i+1}(H)$ a Lie commutator which has at least one a_i as one of its components.

Proof. Let $k \ge 1$ and let $x \in \ker(D_k(H) \to D_k(H'))$. By Corollary 4.10, we have

(4.13)
$$x = \sum_{i} \eta_k^{\mathbb{Z}}(v_i) + \sum_{l} \eta_k \left(\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr}(u_l) \odot \operatorname{tr}(u_l)\right)$$

with $v_i \in \mathcal{T}_k(H)$, and $u_i \in \mathfrak{L}_{j+1}(H)$ if k = 2j. Notice that if k is odd, the second sum in equation (4.13) does not appear. By the linearity relation we can suppose that all the v_i 's have legs colored by S and that all the u_l 's are Lie commutators on S. Let $y = \sum_i v_i + \sum_l \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr}(u_l) \odot \operatorname{tr}(u_l) \in$ $\mathcal{T}_k(H) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ and consider the commutative diagram

where φ and φ' are induced by the homomorphism $\iota_* : H \to H'$. We have that $\varphi' \eta_k(y) = 0$, so $\eta_k \varphi(y) = 0$. Since η_k is an isomorphism, $\varphi(y) = 0$. Let us write

$$y = \sum_{i} v_i + \sum_{l} \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr}(u_l) \odot \operatorname{tr}(u_l) = y' + y'',$$

such that all the diagrams appearing in y' have at least one leg colored by some a_i , and all the diagrams appearing in y'' have legs colored only by $\{b_1, \ldots, b_q\}$. Hence

$$0 = \varphi(y) = \varphi(y') + \varphi(y'') = \varphi(y'')$$

Now, $\varphi(y'') = y''$ because all terms of y'' only have legs colored by $\{b_1, \ldots, b_q\}$. Thus y'' = 0, so y = y'. In other words, the diagrams appearing in y whose legs are colored only by $\{b_1, \ldots, b_g\}$ can be grouped and they cancel out by IHX and antisymmetry relations.

Let us now turn to the proof of Proposition 4.7. Recall that we want to show that

 $\ker(D_k(H) \xrightarrow{\iota_*} D_k(H')) = \tau_k(\mathcal{HC} \cap J_k\mathcal{C}).$

Let us first see the inclusion " \supseteq ". Since $\mathcal{HC} \cap \mathcal{ILC} \subseteq \bigcap J_k^L \mathcal{C}$ (Lemma 4.6), we have that $\tau_k^L(\mathcal{HC}\cap\mathcal{ILC})=0$ for all $k\geq 1$. Therefore, if $M\in\mathcal{HC}\cap\mathcal{ILC}$, $then \tau_k^L(M)=0$, so by Proposition 4.2 we have that $\iota_*(\tau_k(M)) = \tau_k^L(M) = 0$, that is, $\tau_k(M) \in \ker(D_k(H) \xrightarrow{\iota_*} D_k(H'))$. We now show the inclusion " \subseteq ". According to Lemma 4.11, it is enough to prove for all $j \ge 1$ that

- (i) $\eta_{2j-1}^{\mathbb{Z}}(v) \in \tau_{2j-1}(\mathcal{HC} \cap J_{2j-1}\mathcal{C})$ for v as in Lemma 4.11(*i*), and (*ii*) $\eta_{2j}^{\mathbb{Z}}(v) \in \tau_{2j}(\mathcal{HC} \cap J_{2j}\mathcal{C})$ and $\eta_{2j}(\frac{1}{2}\mathrm{tr}(u) \odot \mathrm{tr}(u)) \in \tau_{2j}(\mathcal{HC} \cap J_{2j}\mathcal{C})$ for v and u as in Lemma 4.11(ii).

Let $\mathcal{S}_{2g}^{\text{odd}}$ be the submonoid of string links σ on 2g strands in homology cubes, with trivial linking matrix and satisfying the property that if we forget all the odd components of σ , the obtained string link is trivial. The Milnor-Johnson correspondence, described in subsection 2.4, sends $\mathcal{HC} \cap \mathcal{IC}$ to $\mathcal{S}_{2q}^{\text{odd}}$. Hence by diagram (2.10), proving (i) and (ii) above is equivalent to show

- (*iii*) $v \in \eta_k^{-1} \mu_{k+1}(\mathcal{S}_{2g}^{odd} \cap \mathcal{S}_{2g}[k+1])$ for k odd and v as in Lemma 4.11(i), and (*iv*) $v, \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr}(u) \odot \operatorname{tr}(u) \in \eta_k^{-1} \mu_{k+1}(\mathcal{S}_{2g}^{odd} \cap \mathcal{S}_{2g}[k+1])$ for k even and v and u as in Lemma 4.11(ii)

This can be done by using a string link version of Cochran's realization theorems for Milnor invariants [5, Theorem 7.2] and [6, Theorem 3.3]: here we develop [14, Remark 8.2]. This process is called *antidifferentiation* and it is very close to surgery along tree claspers, see [15, Section 7]. We sketch this process below.

Let S be as in Lemma 4.11. Suppose that k = 2j. Consider $u \in \mathfrak{L}_{j+1}(H)$ a Lie commutator which has at least one a_i as one of its components. From the rooted tree $\operatorname{tr}(u)$ we are going to recursively construct a string link $L(\frac{1}{2}u)$ which realizes the diagram $\frac{1}{2}\operatorname{tr}(u) \odot \operatorname{tr}(u)$.

Starting step. Suppose that $u = [u_1, u_2]$. Consider the oriented Whitehead link and label its components by u_1 and u_2 respectively, see Figure 14(a).

Recursive step. Suppose for example that $u_1 \in \mathfrak{L}_{\geq 2}(H)$, say $u_1 = [u_{11}, u_{12}]$. Perform a 0-twisted Bing doubling to the component labeled by u_1 and label the two new components u_{11} and u_{12} respectively. See Figure 14(b).



FIGURE 14. (a) Starting step and (b) recursive step.

Banding step. After finishing the above process we obtain a (j + 1)-component link whose components are labeled with elements of S. Now, if two components have the same label, we perform an *interior band sum* between the two components, see [5, Section 7] for more details. If necessary, add trivial components to the resulting link in order to obtain a 2g-component link with components, each one, labeled by a unique element of S. Denote this link by $l(\frac{1}{2}u)$. Since u is a Lie commutator with at least one a_i as one of its components, the construction implies that the link $l(\frac{1}{2}u)$ becomes the trivial g-component link if we forget all the components with labels a_1, \ldots, a_g .

Final step. Open the link $l(\frac{1}{2}u)$ to obtain a string link $l'(\frac{1}{2}u)$ on 2g-strands, each one labeled by a unique element of S, satisfying the property that if we forget all the components with labels a_1, \ldots, a_g then it becomes the trivial g-component string link. Now, by conjugating with the generators $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{2g-1}$ of the braid group on 2g-strands, we arrange the components of $l'(\frac{1}{2}u)$ in a such way that the (2i)-th component is labeled by b_i and the (2i - 1)-st component is labeled by a_i , for $i = 1, \ldots, g$. Denote the resulting string link by $L(\frac{1}{2}u)$. We have that $L(\frac{1}{2}u) \in S_{2g}^{\text{odd}} \cap S_{2g}[k+1]$ and $\mu_{k+1}(L(\frac{1}{2}u)) = \mu_{k+1}(l'(\frac{1}{2}u)) = \pm \eta_k(\frac{1}{2}\text{tr}(u) \odot \text{tr}(u))$, see [14, Remark 8.2], the sign depending on the clasp of the Whitehead link in the starting step.

Example 4.12. Let us illustrate the above process in a particular case. Suppose that g = 2 and $u = [[a_1, b_1], a_1]$. We show in Figure 15(*i*) the starting step, in Figure 15(*ii*) the recursive step. In Figure 15(*iii*) we perform an interior band sum and add trivial components. Finally in Figure 16 we show the associated string link and the arrangement of its components.



FIGURE 15. (i) Starting step, (ii) recursive step and (iii) link $l(\frac{1}{2}u)$ for $u = [[a_1, b_1], a_1]$.



FIGURE 16. String link $L(\frac{1}{2}u)$ for $u = [[a_1, b_1], a_1]$.

Now if v is a tree-like Jacobi diagram as in Lemma 4.11, of i-deg ≥ 2 (the case i-deg = 1 is realized by a string link version of the Borromean rings), then chose any *internal edge* of v (edge connecting two trivalent vertices) and cut it in half to obtain two rooted trivalent trees. Let u_1 and u_2 be the Lie commutators associated to these rooted trees. Notice that $v = tr(u_1) \odot tr(u_2)$. Consider the oriented Hopf link and label its components by u_1 and u_2 respectively, see Figure 17.



FIGURE 17. Starting the antidifferentiation process to realize v.

Then continue the antidifferentiation process by performing the recursive step, banding step and final step. At the end we obtain a string link $L(v) \in S_{2g}^{\text{odd}} \cap S_{2g}[k+1]$ such that $\mu_{k+1}(L(v)) = \pm \eta_k^{\mathbb{Z}}(v)$, the sign depending on the clasp of the Hopf link that we started with to realize v.

5. The LMO functor and the Johnson-Levine homomorphisms

This section is devoted to the relation between the Johnson-Levine homomorphisms and the LMO functor. We refer to [32, 1, 2] for an introduction to the LMO invariant and to [4] for its functorial extension.

5.1. Jacobi diagrams. In subsection 2.5 we reviewed the notion of tree-like Jacobi diagram. In this subsection we consider more general Jacobi diagrams.

A Jacobi diagram is a finite unitrivalent graph such that the trivalent vertices are oriented, that is, its incident edges are endowed with a cyclic order. Let C be a finite set. We call a Jacobi diagram C-colored if its univalent vertices (or legs) are colored with elements of the \mathbb{Q} -vector space spanned by C. The internal degree of a Jacobi diagram is the number of trivalent vertices, we denote it by i-deg. The connected Jacobi diagram of i-deg = 0 is called a *strut*. As for tree-like Jacobi diagrams, we use dashed lines to represent Jacobi diagrams and, when we draw them, we assume that the orientation of trivalent vertices is counterclockwise. See Figure 18 for some examples.

The space of C-colored Jacobi diagrams is defined as

$$\mathcal{A}(C) := \frac{\operatorname{Vect}_{\mathbb{Q}}\{C\text{-colored Jacobi diagrams}\}}{\operatorname{AS, IHX, } \mathbb{Q}\text{-multilinearity}},$$



FIGURE 18. C-colored Jacobi diagrams of i-deg 0, 1, 2 and 2, respectively. Here $C = \{a, b, c\}$

where the relations AS, IHX are local and the multilinearity relation applies to the C-colored legs, see Figure 6 in subsection 2.5.

The vector space $\mathcal{A}(C)$ is graded by the internal degree, thus we can consider the degree completion which we still denote by $\mathcal{A}(C)$, in other words, we also consider formal series of Jacobi diagrams. There is a product in $\mathcal{A}(C)$ given by disjoint union, and a coproduct defined by $\Delta(D) := \sum D' \otimes D''$ where the sum ranges over pairs of subdiagrams D', D'' of D such that $D' \sqcup D'' = D$. With these structures, $\mathcal{A}(C)$ is a complete Hopf algebra. Its primitive part is the subspace $\mathcal{A}^c(C)$ spanned by connected Jacobi diagrams. We denote by $\mathcal{A}^Y(C)$ the subspace of Jacobi diagrams such that all of their connected components have at least one trivalent vertex. A Jacobi diagram in $\mathcal{A}(C)$ is *looped* if it has a non-contractible component, for instance the third diagram in Figure 18 is looped. The subspace generated by looped diagrams is an ideal. We denote by $\mathcal{A}^{Y,t}(C)$ the quotient of $\mathcal{A}^Y(C)$ by this ideal.

For $k \geq 1$ denote by $\mathcal{A}_k^{Y,t,c}(C)$ the subspace of $\mathcal{A}^{Y,t}(C)$ generated by connected diagrams of i-deg = k. If G is a finitely generated free abelian group, we define the space $\mathcal{A}(G)$ of G-colored Jacobi diagrams by $\mathcal{A}(G) = \mathcal{A}(C)$ where C is any set of free generators of G. In particular for the abelian group $H = H_1(\Sigma_{g,1};\mathbb{Z})$ we have

$$\mathcal{A}_{k}^{Y,t,c}(H) = \mathcal{T}_{k}(H) \otimes \mathbb{Q},$$

where $\mathcal{T}(H) = \bigoplus_{k>1} \mathcal{T}_k(H)$ is the group of tree-like Jacobi diagrams defined in subsection 2.5.

5.2. The LMO functor. Let us start by the definition of the target category ${}^{t}SA$ of the LMO functor. For a non-negative integer g, denote by $\lfloor g \rceil^*$ the set $\{1^*, \ldots, g^*\}$, where * is a symbol like +, - or * itself. The objects of the category ${}^{t}SA$ are non-negative integers. The set of morphisms from g to f is the subspace ${}^{t}SA(g, f)$ of diagrams in $A(\lfloor g \rceil^+ \sqcup \lfloor f \rceil^-)$ without struts whose both ends are colored by elements of $\lfloor g \rceil^+$. If $D \in {}^{t}SA(g, f)$ and $E \in {}^{t}SA(h, g)$ the composition $D \circ E$ is the element in ${}^{t}SA(h, f)$ given by the sum of Jacobi diagrams obtained by considering all the possible ways of gluing the $\lfloor g \rceil^+$ -colored legs of D with the $\lfloor g \rceil^-$ -colored legs of E. Schematically

For example,



$$\operatorname{Id}_g := \exp_{\sqcup} \left(\sum_{i=1}^g \left| \begin{array}{c} i^+ \\ i^- \end{array} \right) \right)$$

The category ${}^{ts}\!\mathcal{A}$ is called the category of *top-substantial Jacobi diagrams*.

Now, let us define the source category $\mathcal{LC}ob$ of the LMO functor, which is called the category of Lagrangian cobordisms. The objects of $\mathcal{LC}ob$ are non-negative integers. For all $g \geq 1$, let us fix the handlebody V_g and the inclusion $\iota : \Sigma_{g,1} \hookrightarrow V_g$ as in subsection 3.1. A cobordism (M,m) over $\Sigma_{g,1}$ belongs to $\mathcal{LC}ob(g,g)$ if it satisfies $H_1(M) = m_{-,*}(A_g) + m_{+,*}(H_1(\Sigma_{g,1};\mathbb{Z}))$ and $m_{+,*}(A_g) \subseteq m_{-,*}(A_g)$. Recall that A_g denotes the kernel of $H_1(\Sigma_{g,1};\mathbb{Z}) \xrightarrow{\iota_*} H_1(V_g;\mathbb{Z})$. In particular we have that the monoid of Lagrangian homology cobordisms $\mathcal{LC}_{g,1}$ is contained in $\mathcal{LC}ob(g,g)$. More generally, the set $\mathcal{LC}ob(g,f)$ is defined in a similar way by considering cobordisms from $\Sigma_{g,1}$ to $\Sigma_{f,1}$.

For the definition of the LMO functor we need to use the *Kontsevich integral*, because of this, it is necessary to change the objects of \mathcal{LCob} to obtain the category \mathcal{LCob}_q : instead of non-negative integers, the objects of \mathcal{LCob}_q are non-associative words in the single letter •. We refer to [4] for more details.

Roughly speaking, the LMO functor $\widetilde{Z} : \mathcal{LCob}_q \to {}^{ts}\!\mathcal{A}$ is defined as follows. Let M be a Lagrangian cobordism (for example $M \in \mathcal{LC}_{g,1}$) and consider its bottom-top tangle presentation (B, γ') . Next, take a surgery presentation of (B, γ') , that is, a framed link $L \subseteq \operatorname{int}([-1, 1]^3)$ and a bottom-top tangle γ in $[-1, 1]^3$ such that surgery along L carries $([-1, 1]^3, \gamma)$ to (B, γ') . Then take the Kontsevich integral of the pair $([-1, 1]^3, L \cup \gamma)$, which gives a series of a kind of Jacobi diagrams. To get rid of the ambiguity in the surgery presentation, it is necessary to use some combinatorial operations on the space of diagrams. Among these operations, the so-called Aarhus integral (see [1, 2]), which is a kind of formal Gaussian integration on the space of diagrams. In this way we arrive to ${}^{ts}\!\mathcal{A}$. Finally, to obtain the functoriality, it is necessary to do a normalization.

We emphasize that the definition of the Kontsevich integral requires the choice of a *Drinfeld* associator, and the bottom-top tangle presentation requires the choice of a system of meridians and parallels. Thus the LMO functor also depends on these choices.

Example 5.1. In [4, Section 5.3] the value of the LMO functor was calculated in low degrees for the generators of \mathcal{LCob} , when the chosen Drinfeld associator is even. For instance, for the Lagrangian cobordisms $\psi_{1,1}$ with bottom-top tangle presentation given in Figure 19, we have

$$\widetilde{Z}(\psi_{1,1}) = \exp_{\Box} \left(\begin{array}{c} 1^{+} & 2^{+} \\ 2^{-} & 1^{-} \end{array} \right) \sqcup \exp_{\Box} \left(\begin{array}{c} -\frac{1}{2} & 2^{+} \\ 2^{-} & 1^{-} \end{array} + (i \text{-deg} > 2) \end{array} \right).$$

FIGURE 19. Bottom-top tangle presentation of $\psi_{1,1}$.

For a matrix $\Lambda = (l_{ij})$ with entries indexed by a finite set C, we define the element $[\Lambda]$ in $\mathcal{A}(C)$ by

$$[\Lambda] := \exp_{\sqcup} \left(\sum_{i,j \in C} l_{ij} \left| \begin{array}{c} j \\ i \end{array} \right| \right).$$

It was proved in [4, Lemma 4.12] that the LMO functor takes group-like values, and that if wand u are non-associative words in \bullet of lengths g and f respectively, then for $M \in \mathcal{LC}ob_q(w, u)$, $\widetilde{Z}(M)$ splits as $\widetilde{Z}(M) = \widetilde{Z}^s(M) \sqcup \widetilde{Z}^Y(M)$, where $\widetilde{Z}^Y(M)$ belongs to $\mathcal{A}^Y(\lfloor g \rfloor^+ \sqcup \lfloor f \rfloor^-)$ and $\widetilde{Z}^s(M)$ only contains struts. Moreover $\widetilde{Z}^s(M)$ is given by

(5.1)
$$\widetilde{Z}^s(M) = \left[\frac{\operatorname{Lk}(M)}{2}\right],$$

where Lk(M) has been defined in subsection 2.2, see for instance Example 5.1. The colors $1^+, \ldots, g^+$ and $1^-, \ldots, g^-$ in the series of Jacobi diagrams $\widetilde{Z}(M)$ refer to the curves $m_+(\beta_1), \ldots, m_+(\beta_g)$ and $m_-(\alpha_1), \ldots, m_-(\alpha_g)$ on the top and bottom surfaces of M respectively.

5.3. Diagrammatic version of the Johnson-Levine homomorphisms. In subsection 2.5 we recalled the diagrammatic version of the Johnson homomorphisms. The same idea applies to the Johnson-Levine homomorphisms. We have seen in Section 3 that the k-th Johnson-Levine homomorphism takes values in $D_k(H')$. Let us consider the space $\mathcal{A}_k^{Y,t,c}(H') = \mathcal{T}_k(H') \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ of connected tree-like Jacobi diagrams of i-deg = k with H'-colored legs. We have the isomorphism

(5.2)
$$\eta_k : \mathcal{A}_k^{Y,t,c}(H') \longrightarrow D_k(H') \otimes \mathbb{Q}, \quad T \longmapsto \sum \operatorname{color}(v) \otimes (T \text{ rooted at } v),$$

as in subsection 2.5. Define the *diagrammatic version* of the k-th Johnson-Levine homomorphism by

$$\eta_k^{-1}(\tau_k^L(M)) \in \mathcal{A}_k^{Y,t,c}(H').$$

Moreover, if we consider the symplectic basis $\{a_1, \ldots, a_g, b_1, \ldots, b_g\}$ of H fixed in subsection 3.1, we have that

$$\eta_k^{-1}(\tau_k^L(M))_{|\iota_*(b_j)\mapsto j^+} \in \mathcal{A}_k^{Y,t,c}(\lfloor g \rceil^+),$$

where the expression $\iota_*(b_j) \mapsto j^+$ means to replace the color $\iota_*(b_j)$ by the color j^+ for $j = 1, \ldots, g$. We still denote the diagrammatic version by τ_k^L .

5.4. Relating the LMO functor and the Johnson-Levine homomorphisms. We have seen that for $M \in J_k^L \mathcal{C}$, the homomorphism $\tau_k^L(M)$ can be seen as taking values in the space $\mathcal{A}_k^{Y,t,c}(\lfloor g \rceil^+)$ of connected tree-like Jacobi diagrams with $\lfloor g \rceil^+$ -colored legs of i-deg = k. While the value $\widetilde{Z}(M)$ of the LMO functor takes values in ${}^{ts}\mathcal{A}(g,g)$. Now, $\mathcal{A}_k^{Y,t,c}(\lfloor g \rceil^+)$ is contained in ${}^{ts}\mathcal{A}(g,g)$. In this subsection we show an explicit relation between the Johnson-Levine homomorphisms and the LMO functor. Let us first start by the strut part of the LMO functor. Consider the monoid homomorphism

(5.3)
$$\vartheta : \mathcal{LC} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(A, A), \quad M \longmapsto \rho_1(M)|_A.$$

Notice that $\mathcal{ILC} = \ker(\vartheta)$. We have the following.

Proposition 5.2. For $(M,m) \in \mathcal{LC}$, the homomorphism $\vartheta(M)$ is essentially the strut part $\widetilde{Z}^{s}(M)$ of the LMO functor not considering struts whose both ends are colored by $|g|^{-}$.

Proof. Consider the same bases of H, A and $H_1(M;\mathbb{Z})$ as in the proof of Lemma 3.7. In these bases the matrix of $\vartheta(M)$ is given by $\Lambda = (\lambda_{ij})$, where λ_{ij} are integer coefficients as in equation (3.15). Besides, $\tilde{Z}^s(M) = \left[\frac{\operatorname{Lk}(M)}{2}\right]$ and we have seen in the proof of Lemma 3.7 that $\operatorname{Lk}(M) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \Lambda^T \\ \Lambda & \Delta \end{pmatrix}$. In other words, the homomorphism (5.3) is tantamount to the strut part of the LMO functor not considering struts whose both ends are colored by $\lfloor g \rfloor^-$.

We now turn to the trivalent part of the LMO functor. For $M \in \mathcal{LC}$ denote by $\widetilde{Z}^{Y,t,+}(M)$ the element in $\mathcal{A}^{Y,t}(\lfloor g \rceil^+)$ obtained from $\widetilde{Z}^Y(M)$ by sending all terms with loops or with i^- -colored legs to 0. Let us consider the filtration of \mathcal{C} induced by $\widetilde{Z}^{Y,t,+}$. Specifically, we set

$$\mathcal{F}_k\mathcal{C} := \{ (M, m) \in \mathcal{ILC} \mid \widetilde{Z}^{Y, t, +}(M) = \emptyset + (\text{terms of } i\text{-deg} \ge k) \}.$$

We call $\{\mathcal{F}_k\mathcal{C}\}_{k>1}$ the upper tree filtration of \mathcal{C} .

Proposition 5.3. Let $M, N \in \mathcal{F}_k \mathcal{C}$ and write $\widetilde{Z}^{Y,t,+}(M) = \emptyset + D_k + (\text{i-deg} > k)$ and $\widetilde{Z}^{Y,t,+}(N) = \emptyset + D'_k + (\text{i-deg} > k)$, where D_k and D'_k are linear combinations of connected Jacobi diagrams in $\mathcal{A}^{Y,t}(\lfloor g \rfloor^+)$ of i-deg = k. Then

(5.4)
$$\widetilde{Z}^{Y,t,+}(M \circ N) = \emptyset + (D_k + D'_k) + (i - \deg > k)$$

Proof. For simplicity of notation, we write $D(\cdot)$ instead of $\widetilde{Z}^{Y,t,+}(\cdot)$ and $\hat{D}(\cdot)$ instead $\widetilde{Z}^{Y}(\cdot)$. Suppose that

$$\operatorname{Lk}(M) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \operatorname{Id}_g \\ \operatorname{Id}_g & \Delta \end{pmatrix}.$$

It follows from Lemma 4.5 in [4] that

(5.5)
$$\hat{\mathbf{D}}(M \circ N) = \left\langle \left(\hat{\mathbf{D}}(M)_{|j^+ \mapsto j^* + j^+ + \Delta \cdot j^-} \right), \left(\left[\Delta/2 \right]_{|j^- \mapsto j^*} \right) \sqcup \left(\hat{\mathbf{D}}(N)_{|j^- \mapsto j^* + j^-} \right) \right\rangle_{\lfloor g \rceil^*}$$

where $\Delta \cdot j^- = \sum_{p=1}^g l_{pj}p^-$ with $\Delta = (l_{pq})$, and for $E, F \in {}^{ts}\mathcal{A}(\lfloor g \rceil^* \sqcup C)$, the element $\langle E, F \rangle_{\lfloor g \rceil^*} \in {}^{ts}\mathcal{A}(C)$ is defined as the linear combination of Jacobi diagrams obtained from E and F by considering all possible ways of gluing all the $\lfloor g \rceil^*$ -colored legs of E with all the $\lfloor g \rceil^*$ -colored legs of F, see [1, 2] for details about this operation.

It is possible for $\hat{D}(M)$ and $\hat{D}(N)$ to have diagrams of i-deg $\langle k \rangle$ but with some $\lfloor g \rceil^-$ -colored legs or with loops, thus we need to check that this kind of diagrams do not contribute any terms of i-deg $\leq k$ to

$$(\hat{\mathbf{D}}(M \circ N))_{|j^-, \text{ loops } \mapsto 0} = \mathbf{D}(M \circ N).$$

The diagrams with loops remain after the pairing (5.5), so they do not contribute any term to $D(M \circ N)$. Let E be a diagram of i-deg < k without loops and having $\lfloor g \rceil^-$ -colored legs, suppose that E appears in $\hat{D}(M)$, hence $E' := E_{\mid j^+ \mapsto j^* + j^+ + \Delta \cdot j^-}$ still has $\lfloor g \rceil^-$ -colored legs. Therefore all the diagrams obtained from E' after the pairing (5.5) still have $\lfloor g \rceil^-$ -colored legs, so they do not appear in $D(M \circ N)$. Now suppose that E appears in $\hat{D}(N)$. In this case $E'' := E_{\mid j^- \mapsto j^* + j^-}$ can be written as $E'' = E_1 + E_2$, where E_1 is a linear combination of diagrams with $\lfloor g \rceil^-$ -colored legs. The diagrams of E_1 do not contribute to $D(M \circ N)$ as in the previous case. The diagrams obtained from E_2 after the pairing (5.5) could only contribute diagrams of i-deg > k to $D(M \circ N)$. Summarizing, we have shown that $D(M \circ N) = \emptyset + (i-deg \geq k)$. It remains to show that the terms of i-deg = k are exactly those given by $D_k + D'_k$. This can be easily checked by using formula (5.5).

The above proposition shows that $\mathcal{F}_k \mathcal{C}$ is a monoid and that we can define homomorphisms

$$\widetilde{Z}_k^{Y,t,+}: J_k^L \mathcal{C} \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}_k^{Y,t,c}(\lfloor g \rceil^+),$$

for all $k \geq 1$, where $\widetilde{Z}_k^{Y,t,+}(M)$ denotes the terms of i-deg = k in $\widetilde{Z}^{Y,t,+}(M)$ for $M \in J_k^L \mathcal{C}$. The following theorem shows that the upper tree filtration coincides with the Johnson-Levine filtration, and makes explicit the relation between the LMO functor and the Johnson-Levine homomorphisms.

Theorem 5.4. For all $k \ge 1$,

(5.6)
$$\mathcal{F}_k \mathcal{C} = J_k^L \mathcal{C}.$$

Moreover, if $M \in J_k^L \mathcal{C}$ then

(5.7)
$$\widetilde{Z}^{Y,t,+}(M) = \emptyset + \tau_k^L(M) + (\text{i-deg} > k).$$

Proof. Notice that if equality (5.7) holds then $\mathcal{F}_{k+1}\mathcal{C} = J_{k+1}^L\mathcal{C}$. From the definitions, $\mathcal{F}_1\mathcal{C} = \mathcal{ILC} = J_1^L\mathcal{C}$. Therefore, it is enough to show that equality (5.6) implies equality (5.7) for all $k \geq 1$.

Let $M \in J_k^L \mathcal{C} = \mathcal{F}_k \mathcal{C}$. Theorem 4.9 allows us to write

$${M}_{Y_{k+1}} = {N}_{Y_{k+1}} {P}_{Y_{k+1}},$$

with $N \in J_k \mathcal{C}$ and $P \in \mathcal{HC} \cap \mathcal{ILC}$. From Lemma 4.6 it follows that $\tau_k^L(P) = 0$. Hence by the invariance of τ_k^L under Y_{k+1} -surgery (see subsection 4.2), we have

$$\tau_k^L(M) = \tau_k^L(N) + \tau_k^L(P) = \tau_k^L(N).$$

By Proposition 4.2, we conclude that $\tau_k^L(M)$ is equal to the reduction of $\tau_k(N)$ under the map $\iota_*: D_k(H) \to D_k(H')$.

Besides, by the invariance under Y_{k+1} -surgery of the i-deg = k part of the LMO functor and Proposition 5.3, we have

$$\widetilde{Z}_k^{Y,t,+}(M) = \widetilde{Z}_k^{Y,t,+}(N) + \widetilde{Z}_k^{Y,t,+}(P).$$

The monoid \mathcal{HC} is contained in the category of *special Lagrangian cobordisms* introduced in [4]. For every cobordism Q of this kind, it was proved in [4, Corollary 5.4] that $(\tilde{Z}(Q))_{|j^-\mapsto 0} = \emptyset$. Now $P \in \mathcal{HC} \cap \mathcal{ILC}$, so we have $\tilde{Z}_k^{Y,t,+}(P) = 0$. It follows from Theorem 8.19 in [4] that $\tilde{Z}_k^{Y,t,+}(N)$ is the reduction of $\tau_k(N)$ under the map $\iota_* : D_k(H) \to D_k(H')$, and so it is for $\tilde{Z}_k^{Y,t,+}(M)$. Hence the theorem follows. \Box

As an immediate consequence of the above theorem we have the following corollary.

Corollary 5.5. For $M \in J_k^L \mathcal{C}$, the upper tree reduction of the LMO functor of internal degree $k, \widetilde{Z}_k^{Y,t,+}(M)$, is independent of the choice of a Drinfeld associator. Moreover,

$$\left(\widetilde{Z}_{k}^{Y,t,+}(M)\right)_{|j^{+}\mapsto\iota_{*}(b_{i})}\in\mathcal{T}_{k}(H')\otimes\mathbb{Q}$$

is also independent of the choice of the system of meridians and parallels used in the definition of the LMO functor.

References

- Dror Bar-Natan, Stavros Garoufalidis, Lev Rozansky, and Dylan P. Thurston. The Aarhus integral of rational homology 3-spheres. I. A highly non trivial flat connection on S³. Selecta Math. (N.S.), 8(3):315–339, 2002.
- [2] Dror Bar-Natan, Stavros Garoufalidis, Lev Rozansky, and Dylan P. Thurston. The Aarhus integral of rational homology 3-spheres. II. Invariance and universality. *Selecta Math.* (N.S.), 8(3):341–371, 2002.
- [3] Nathan Broaddus, Benson Farb, and Andrew Putman. Irreducible Sp-representations and subgroup distortion in the mapping class group. *Comment. Math. Helv.*, 86(3):537–556, 2011.
- [4] Dorin Cheptea, Kazuo Habiro, and Gwénaël Massuyeau. A functorial LMO invariant for Lagrangian cobordisms. *Geom. Topol.*, 12(2):1091–1170, 2008.
- [5] Tim D. Cochran. Derivatives of links: Milnor's concordance invariants and Massey's products. Mem. Amer. Math. Soc., 84(427):x+73, 1990.
- [6] Tim D. Cochran. k-cobordism for links in S³. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 327(2):641–654, 1991.
- [7] Stavros Garoufalidis and Jerome Levine. Tree-level invariants of three-manifolds, Massey products and the Johnson homomorphism. In *Graphs and patterns in mathematics and theoretical physics*, volume 73 of *Proc. Sympos. Pure Math.*, pages 173–203. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2005.
- [8] M. N. Goussarov. Variations of knotted graphs. The geometric technique of n-equivalence. Algebra i Analiz, 12(4):79–125, 2000.

- [9] Mikhail Goussarov. Finite type invariants and n-equivalence of 3-manifolds. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math., 329(6):517–522, 1999.
- [10] H. B. Griffiths. Automorphisms of a 3-dimensional handlebody. Abh. Math. Sem. Univ. Hamburg, 26:191–210, 1963/1964.
- [11] Nathan Habegger. Milnor, Johnson, and tree level perturbative invariants. Preprint, 2000.
- [12] Nathan Habegger and Xiao-Song Lin. The classification of links up to link-homotopy. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 3(2):389–419, 1990.
- [13] Nathan Habegger and Xiao-Song Lin. On link concordance and Milnor's μ invariants. Bull. London Math. Soc., 30(4):419–428, 1998.
- [14] Nathan Habegger and Gregor Masbaum. The Kontsevich integral and Milnor's invariants. *Topology*, 39(6):1253–1289, 2000.
- [15] Kazuo Habiro. Claspers and finite type invariants of links. Geom. Topol., 4:1–83, 2000.
- [16] Kazuo Habiro and Gwénaël Massuyeau. From mapping class groups to monoids of homology cobordisms: a survey. In *Handbook of Teichmüller theory. Volume III*, volume 17 of *IRMA Lect. Math. Theor. Phys.*, pages 465–529. Eur. Math. Soc., Zürich, 2012.
- [17] Dennis Johnson. An abelian quotient of the mapping class group \mathcal{I}_g . Math. Ann., 249(3):225–242, 1980.
- [18] Dennis Johnson. A survey of the Torelli group. In Low-dimensional topology (San Francisco, Calif., 1981), volume 20 of Contemp. Math., pages 165–179. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1983.
- [19] Dennis Johnson. The structure of the Torelli group. III. The abelianization of \mathcal{T} . Topology, 24(2):127–144, 1985.
- [20] Thang T. Q. Le, Jun Murakami, and Tomotada Ohtsuki. On a universal perturbative invariant of 3-manifolds. *Topology*, 37(3):539–574, 1998.
- [21] Jerome Levine. Homology cylinders: an enlargement of the mapping class group. Algebr. Geom. Topol., 1:243–270, 2001.
- [22] Jerome Levine. Addendum and correction to: "Homology cylinders: an enlargement of the mapping class group" [Algebr. Geom. Topol. 1 (2001), 243–270; MR1823501 (2002m:57020)]. Algebr. Geom. Topol., 2:1197–1204, 2002.
- [23] Jerome Levine. Labeled binary planar trees and quasi-Lie algebras. Algebr. Geom. Topol., 6:935–948, 2006.
- [24] Jerome Levine. The Lagrangian filtration of the mapping class group and finite-type invariants of homology spheres. *Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc.*, 141(2):303–315, 2006.
- [25] Gwénaël Massuyeau. Infinitesimal Morita homomorphisms and the tree-level of the LMO invariant. Bull. Soc. Math. France, 140(1):101–161, 2012.
- [26] Gwénaël Massuyeau and Jean-Baptiste Meilhan. Equivalence relations for homology cylinders and the core of the Casson invariant. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 365(10):5431–5502, 2013.
- [27] Shigeyuki Morita. Casson's invariant for homology 3-spheres and characteristic classes of surface bundles. I. *Topology*, 28(3):305–323, 1989.
- [28] Shigeyuki Morita. On the structure of the Torelli group and the Casson invariant. *Topology*, 30(4):603–621, 1991.
- [29] Shigeyuki Morita. Abelian quotients of subgroups of the mapping class group of surfaces. Duke Math. J., 70(3):699–726, 1993.
- [30] Shigeyuki Morita. Casson invariant, signature defect of framed manifolds and the secondary characteristic classes of surface bundles. J. Differential Geom., 47(3):560–599, 1997.
- [31] Takayuki Oda. A lower bound for the graded modules associated with the relative weight filtration on the teichmuller group. *Preprint*, 1992.
- [32] Tomotada Ohtsuki. Quantum invariants, volume 29 of Series on Knots and Everything. World Scientific Publishing Co., Inc., River Edge, NJ, 2002. A study of knots, 3-manifolds, and their sets.
- [33] Kent E. Orr. Homotopy invariants of links. Invent. Math., 95(2):379–394, 1989.

- [34] Takuya Sakasai. Lagrangian mapping class groups from a group homological point of view. *Algebr. Geom. Topol.*, 12(1):267–291, 2012.
- [35] Takao Satoh. On the Johnson homomorphisms of the mapping class groups of surfaces. In Handbook of group actions. Vol. I, volume 31 of Adv. Lect. Math. (ALM), pages 373–407. Int. Press, Somerville, MA, 2015.
- [36] John Stallings. Homology and central series of groups. J. Algebra, 2:170–181, 1965.
- [37] Shin'ichi Suzuki. On homeomorphisms of a 3-dimensional handlebody. Canad. J. Math., 29(1):111–124, 1977.

INSTITUT DE RECHERCHE MATHÉMATIQUE AVANCÉE, UNIVERSITÉ DE STRASBOURG, 7 RUE RENÉ DESCARTES, 67084 STRASBOURG, FRANCE

 $E\text{-}mail\ address:\ \texttt{vera@math.unistra.fr}$

30